

Columbus State University CSU ePress

Theses and Dissertations

Student Publications

Fall 9-11-2021

Forest Structure, above-Ground Carbon Stocks, and Productivity along an Elevational Gradient in the Ecuadorian Andes

Esteban Pinto

Follow this and additional works at: https://csuepress.columbusstate.edu/theses_dissertations

COLUMBUS STATE UNIVERSITY

Forest Structure, above-Ground Carbon Stocks, and Productivity along an Elevational Gradient in the Ecuadorian Andes

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE COLLEGE OF LETTERS AND SCIENCE IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY

BY

ESTEBAN PINTO L.

COLUMBUS GEORGIA

Copyright © 2021 Esteban Pinto L. All Rights Reserved.

FOREST STRUCTURE, ABOVE-GROUND CARBON STOCKS, AND PRODUCTIVITY ALONG AN ELEVATIONAL GRADIENT IN THE ECUADORIAN ANDES

By

Esteban Pinto L.

Committee Chair:

Dr. Kevin S. Burgess

Committee Members:

Dr. Clifton Ruehl

Prof. Álvaro Pérez

Columbus State University

May 2021

ABSTRACT

The Andean forest provides a natural laboratory for evaluating long-term interactions between forests and variation in environmental parameters along elevational gradients. In particular, the mechanisms that control above-ground carbon stocks (AGC) and natural dynamics in mountain ecosystems constitute a potentially powerful tool for understanding the function of these ecosystems and their response to current climate change scenarios or past human disturbances. The present study integrates biotic (rarefied species richness and leaf traits) and abiotic (climate, soil properties and degradation) factors as possible drivers of AGC stocks, AGC net change (AGC_{nt}), AGC productivity (AGC_p) and AGC mortality (AGC_k), along an elevational gradient of ca. 3000 m in the montane forests of the Ecuadorian Andes. My findings show that AGC metrics respond to elevational gradients (climate conditions) and past human disturbances. I found that temperature constitutes the primary filter for forest structure, AGC stocks, AGC_{nt} and AGC_p along the elevational gradient, where abiotic factors such as degradation and soil properties represent the main drivers for AGCk. This study provides insight into the processes that control patterns of AGC metrics in mountainous ecosystems, where temperature is likely the most important source of AGC variation in Andean forests.

INDEX WORDS: Andean forests, above-ground carbon, elevational gradient, climate, degradation, productivity, structural equation model

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Special thanks to Universidad de las Américas (UDLA), CONDESAN, and Columbus State University (CSU) for their valuable contribution in the planning and development of this study, and for giving me the opportunity to realize this life-long goal. This product reflects the collaboration and effort of many years of an entire group of scientists and professionals. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Kevin Burgess and Dr. Francisco Cuesta for their patience, concern, and trust shown until the end of this research. To Prof. Alvaro Pérez and Dr. Clifton Ruehl for their intellectual and practical support and for sharing their knowledge with me.

A sincere thanks to Andrea Terán, Antonella Bernardi, and Bryan Yunda, with whom I shared several of the most pleasant moments in the field and from whom I learned valuable life experiences, and thanks with all my heart to all field collaborators for their hard work, in all the activities, during the long days in the field.

I want to specially thank all the people and owners of the lands where this project was carried out: Masphi Lodge, El Cedral Ecolodge, Bellavista Cloud Forest and Intillacta, Pambiliño, Maspishungo, Sacha Urco, Río Bravo, Yanacocha, and Verdecocha reserves for their invaluable contributions, not only with this research but also for their commitment with the environment and for believing in science as a tool for the conservation of the Andean forests. Thank you to all of them for being the main protectors of the Choco Andino Biosphere Reserve.

A big thanks to my parents who have been by my side unconditionally and have supported me in all my decisions. To my brothers and nephew, Jorge, Wilson, and Joaquín, my most trusted friends. Finally, my deepest gratitude to Carolina, my wife, who has supported and accompanied me during all this process and in every step, every decision, and every breath. She has been in my mind and my thoughts all this time. Thank you all very much.

"The philosophical study of nature endeavors, in the vicissitudes of phenomena, to connect the present with the past" – Alexander von Humboldt

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
METHODS	6
Study site and experimental design	6
Estimations of Above-ground Carbon in Biomass (AGC)	7
Estimations of Above-ground Necromass Carbon Stocks (NCS) and Soil Organic C (SOC)	<i>arbon</i> 10
Leaf functional traits (LFT)	11
Climate data	11
Statistical Analysis	12
Species Richness and forest structure	12
Effects of disturbance on Above-ground carbon (AGC) stocks and dynamics	12
Above-ground carbon (AGC) stocks and dynamics variation along the elevat gradient	ional 13
Biotic and abiotic drivers of spatial variation of Above-ground carbon (AGC) s and dynamics	tocks 14
RESULTS	15
Species richness (SR) and forest structure	15
Above-ground Carbon stocks and dynamics	
DISCUSSION	26
Forest composition and structure	26
AGC stocks and dynamics variation along elevational gradients in Andean forest	28
AGC stocks patterns along elevational gradients in Andean forest	
AGC dynamics patterns along elevational gradients in Andean forest	
CONCLUSION	34
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	

LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix B. Correlations values related to the first two axes of the principal component analysis (PCA) applied to temperature data from loggers established 10 centimeters and 1-meter above-ground (AG_{10cm} and AG_{1m}) and 10 centimeters below-ground (BG_{10cm}) in the monitoring system in NWPF. The abbreviations of the climatic variables are minimum daily temperature (minDT), mean daily temperature (meanDT), maximum daily temperature (maxDT). The most extreme values for both axes are represented in bold.51

Appendix C. Below-ground necromass carbon stocks (NCS) and soil organic carbon (SOC) monitored in two censuses, in 2015 or initial (e.g. NGC1) and 2019 o final (e.g. NCG_{final}), in a monitoring system in the Andean forest of Pichincha province in Ecuador.52

Forest structure, above-ground carbon stocks, and productivity along an elevational gradient in the Ecuadorian Andes

INTRODUCTION

Tropical forests store a large fraction of terrestrial carbon stocks and tree diversity (Bonan, 2008; Pan *et al.*, 2011; Slik *et al.*, 2015; Sullivan *et al.*, 2017; Requena Suarez *et al.*, 2019) and play an important role in the carbon cycle of the planet (Beer *et al.*, 2010; Poorter *et al.*, 2015). They store between 40% and 50% of the total carbon stocks in terrestrial ecosystems and between ca. 30% and 40% of the total net primary productivity comes from these forests (Phillips *et al.*, 1998; Townsend *et al.*, 2011; Phillips *et al.*, 2019); and both carbon stocks and productivity dynamics in these ecosystems constitute a keystone for climate regulation. The Tropical Andean Montane Forests of South America (Andean forests, hereafter), in particular, play a key role in their contribution to the Earth's biogeochemical cycles (Requena Suarez *et al.*, 2019) and the provision of ecosystem services, particularly those related to water (Bruijnzeel *et al.*, 2011) and climate regulation (Jarvis & Mulligan, 2011).

In Andean forest, most carbon is stored in above-ground biomass (AGC) and soil as organic carbon (SOC). These forests can hold up to 150 Mg C ha⁻¹ at 1000 m asl in their above-ground biomass (Moser *et al.*, 2011; Phillips *et al.*, 2019) and up to 99 Mg C ha⁻¹ above 3000 m of elevation (Grimm & Fassbender, 1981; Girardin *et al.*, 2010; Moser *et al.*, 2010; Román-Cuesta *et al.*, 2011); and between 95.3 and 323.6 Mg C ha⁻¹ of SOC is stored within the first 30 cm of soil, at the same elevations (Iost, 2007; Gibbon *et al.*, 2010; Moser *et al.*, 2011; Zuniga-Escobar *et al.*, 2013). Over the last three decades, Andean forests have reported an AGC annual productivity of 0.67 ± 0.08 Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹, representing an important carbon sink compared to the

0.42 Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ estimated for lowland Amazonian forests (Duque *et al.*, 2021), 0.08 Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ for temperate forests, and 0.02 Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ for boreal forest (Keeling & Phillips, 2007). Here, estimates for forests are a fraction of those found for non-forested ecosystems (e.g., 1.5 Mg C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for paramo (Calderón-Loor *et al.*, 2020), 2.9 Mg C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for mangrove wetlands (Twilley *et al.*, 2017), and 4.6 Mg C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for seagrass beds (Moriarty *et al.*, 1985)). However Andean forests, in particular, are suspected of playing an essential role in mitigating climate change by removing CO₂ from the atmosphere and transforming it into organic matter.

Andean forests contain about a tenth of all plant life in less than one percent of the world's land area (Myers et al., 2000; Rodríguez-Machena et al., 2004). These forests contain high levels of species diversity and endemism per unit area (> 15000 vascular plant species occurring only in this biome (Kessler & Kluge, 2008)) as a result of sharp environmental gradients associated with the tectonic complexity of the Andean range and their biogeographic and evolutionary history (Gentry, 1995; Gradstein et al., 2008; Jørgensen et al., 2011). Previous studies on the spatial diversity of different organisms along elevational gradients in the Andes found a general decrease in species diversity at higher elevations (Herzog et al., 2005; Palin et al., 2011), where species diversity peaked at mid-elevations, between 500 – 2000 m asl (Kessler, 2000, 2001; Herzog et al., 2005; Salazar et al., 2013). Due to their typically high species diversity and substantial environmental variation, Andean elevational gradients are ideal natural laboratories to evaluate carbon dynamics and the interactions between climate, soil, and species richness (Sundqvist et al., 2013). Nevertheless, Andean forest represent one of the least studied terrestrial ecosystems (Girardin et al., 2013; Mathez-Stiefel et al., 2017), where most previous studies have focused on lowland forests (Brienen et al., 2015; Hubau et al., 2020). Although we

know little about the mechanisms driving species diversity, carbon storage, and its dynamics along elevational gradients in Andean forests (Malhi, 2012), the rapid species turnover (beta diversity) with increasing elevation may be one of the main drivers of the high rates of gamma diversity typically found in Andean forests (Homeier *et al.*, 2010; Lippok *et al.*, 2014). In addition, the carbon dynamics in above-ground strata is controlled by biotic (e.g. species diversity, symbiotic associations), abiotic (e.g. microclimate, topography, soil properties) factors, and together with past human disturbances (e.g. timber extraction), may create a mosaic of different successional stages (Lohbeck *et al.*, 2015; Duque *et al.*, 2021) along Andean elevational gradients.

Biotic factors in tropical forests, such as species richness and plant resource acquisition strategies (Poorter *et al.*, 2017; Duque *et al.*, 2021), may control, in part, above-ground carbon (AGC) stocks and dynamics (van der Sande *et al.*, 2017a). Tree species richness (SR) and AGC within Andean forests typically decrease with increasing elevation, where their highest values are in the lowest elevational zones or piedmont forests (Lieberman *et al.*, 1996; Cui & Zheng, 2016; Pinto *et al.*, 2018). Leaf functional trait (LFT) variations among dominant tree species in tropical forest communities along environmental gradients are expected to determine ecological processes such as primary productivity, growth, nutrient cycling, and nutrient assimilation (Luo *et al.*, 2019b), but could also reveal competitive advantages independent of their dissimilarity (Mayfield & Levine, 2010; Kunstler *et al.*, 2012). In Andean forests, decreases in temperature, annual rainfall, and air humidity (Jarvis & Mulligan, 2011) with concomitant increases in solar and UV radiation at higher elevations (Cavelier, 1996; Halladay *et al.*, 2012; Fyllas *et al.*, 2017) can modify functional leaf trait strategies (Llerena-Zambrano *et al.*, 2021). For instance, at high elevations, trees develop thicker and smaller leaves than species at lower elevations (VelázquezRosas *et al.*, 2002; van de Weg *et al.*, 2009; Bruijnzeel *et al.*, 2010; Fyllas *et al.*, 2017; van der Sande *et al.*, 2020) as a response to environmental filters, which can also affect the trait community assembly of species and their ecological functionality (Luo *et al.*, 2019a). Hooper *et al.* (2005) and Grime (1998) suggested that dominant trait community composition (Grime's mass-ratio hypothesis) instead of species richness may be a better predictor of AGC allocation and dynamics in forest ecosystems. However, this remains to be tested empirically in Andean forests.

Abiotic factors, such as climatic conditions and soil properties, may also substantially affect the composition of plant communities and carbon dynamics (Poorter *et al.*, 2017). These include AGC allocation and storage, which likely determine resource availability for plant growth and survival (van der Sande *et al.*, 2017a). For example, tropical forests on highly fertile soils show accelerated biomass dynamics (Baker *et al.*, 2009), which, together with high temperatures and water availability, exert a strong effect on forest biomass accumulation and dynamics. However, we know little about the effect of biotic and abiotic interactions over AGC dynamics in Andean forests. Although relatively few studies have evaluated the effects of abiotic factors on carbon dynamics along elevational gradients in Andean forests (Poorter *et al.*, 2017; van der Sande *et al.*, 2017a), such factors (i.e., local climate conditions and soil properties) are likely intertwined. More research is needed to disentangle the relative contribution of these factors to plant community composition and AGC patterns in Andean forests.

Global loss of forest cover is associated with an approximate 20% of CO_2 emissions from land-use and land-cover change, contributing to global warming (Parry *et al.*, 2007; Olsson *et al.*, 2019). Degraded forests cover about a quarter of the world's tropical forest area (Rutishauser *et al.*, 2015) and as high as 30% for the Neotropics (Grantham *et al.*, 2020), where in the last six decades, Andean forests, in particular, have degraded at an alarming rate of $\sim 1\%$ per year by logging and cattle grazing (Rodríguez Eraso et al., 2013; Aide et al., 2019). Forests clearing exerts increasing pressure on Andean forests in their ability to provide key ecosystem services (Jarvis et al., 2010; Bustamante et al., 2016), such as carbon stocks and water regulation dynamics, although the effect of such direct impacts can be complex. For example, while logging reduces above- and below-ground biomass stocks, the increased light exposure for lower tree strata may increase ecosystem productivity (Peña-Claros et al., 2008). In addition, forest degradation may also alter soil-nutrient cycling rates, affecting carbon dynamics (van der Sande et al., 2017b). Soil properties in the Andean mountains can vary significantly even over short distances (Moser *et al.*, 2011) due to heterogeneity within soil types and topography (van der Sande et al., 2017b). Soil fertility also has indirect effects on soil organic matter (SOM) and its properties (C:N, N, P, K, Mg, Al and Ca), which might be correlated with AGC variations (Baker et al., 2009; van der Sande et al., 2017b). Given that Andean forests are particularly important for climate change mitigation (Leuschner et al., 2013; Spracklen & Righelato, 2014; Duque et al., 2021) and biodiversity conservation (Malizia et al., 2020), understanding how biotic and abiotic factors affect Andean ecosystem function is essential to inform future sciencebased conservation actions.

The present study evaluates how abiotic, biotic conditions and past disturbances affect the AGC stocks and dynamics in forests of different successional stages along an elevational gradient in the Ecuadorian Andes. Specifically, I measured above-ground carbon stocks (hereafter AGC_{final}) and dynamics (AGC net change, AGC_{nc}; AGC productivity, AGC_p; AGC mortality, AGC_k), and addressed the following questions: 1) Do environmental conditions (air temperature, precipitation, and soil properties) control forest structure and composition (species richness) along an elevation gradient in Andean forests? 2) To what extent do abiotic factors (air temperature, precipitation, soil properties), biotic factors (species richness and functional leaf traits) and past human disturbance (Beta parameter) along an elevational gradient determine carbon stocks and changes in productivity? I hypothesize: 1) Environmental conditions, specifically air temperature and soil fertility, constitute the main filters for species richness. Here, I predict species richness will increase with increasing temperature and soil fertility (C/N, SOM, Ca, Mg, K, Al, and P); and 2) Temperature, soil properties and past human disturbances, with its subsequent forest successional stages, explain the carbon stocks and productivity rates along an elevational gradient. I predict that carbon stocks and productivity will be higher in warmer areas with fertile soils and advanced successional stages than colder areas, places with nutrient-poor soils, and earlier successional forests.

METHODS

Study site and experimental design

The study was carried out in the Pichincha forest dynamic monitoring transect established in 2015 (Pinto *et al.*, 2018; Teunissen van Manen *et al.*, 2020; Llerena-Zambrano *et al.*, 2021). This long-term study site consisted of 17 permanent plots (60 m x 60 m) located in the northwestern versant of the Ecuadorian Andes (0° 11' 17.8656" N, 0° 7' 36.21" S; -78° 34' 8.8566" W, -78° 54' 46.242" W). The plots were established along an elevational gradient of ca. 3000 m asl (632 m to 3507 m), each separated by ~300 m (±100 m) along the transect. To account for variation in forest structure, each plot included nine subplots (20 m x 20 m) for the census of trees (Chave *et al.*, 2003). The thermal amplitude (calculated by temperature sensors) and the precipitation range (calculated in the CHELSA platform), along the elevational gradient, are 7.43 to 23.43 °C and 1250 to 2700 mm, respectively. The transect covers four montane forest ecosystems (MAE, 2012): Piedmont Forest (PMF), Lower Montane Forest (LMF), Montane Forest (MF), and Upper Montane Forest (UMF) (Gentry, 1995; Valencia *et al.*, 1999) (Figure 1); where the forest composition gradually changes along the elevation gradient.

The establishment of plots within each ecosystem followed four main criteria: (1) away from accessible roads to protect the plot's integrity, (2) continuous forest coverage (>70% of treecrown cover) containing three forest strata (i.e., understory, sub-canopy, and canopy), (3) no recent signs of anthropogenic disturbance, and (4) located within a private reserve to avoid nearfuture land-cover changes. These forests represent mid (i.e., secondary) and late successional stands disturbed by cattle grazing, burning, and timber extraction during the 1980s and 1990s. Forest plots were established in secondary successional forests between 30 to 40 years of recuperation, evidenced in the forest composition, structure, and forest strata configuration (Teunissen van Manen *et al.*, 2019; Llerena-Zambrano *et al.*, 2021).

Estimations of Above-ground Carbon in Biomass (AGC)

Biomass censuses in 16 plots were conducted in 2015, 2017, and 2019. AGB data were standardized in each plot according to Pinto and Cuesta (2019) and RAINFOR protocols (Metcalfe *et al.*, 2008). Every tree, palm, and tree fern with \geq 5 cm of diameter at breast high (DBH), or 1.30 m of height, was measured and recorded, identified to species level, tagged, and tracked through time (Girardin *et al.*, 2014); the point of measure (POM) was marked for subsequent measurements. Tree total height (H), in meters, was estimated visually, and 10% of the population within each plot was randomly measured with the use of clinometers. This data was used to develop a tree H:DBH model at the plot level using the function *modelHD* of the



Figure 1. Long-term monitoring system in the western flank of the Ecuadorian Andes. Dots represent long-term permanent plots distributed in an elevational gradient, represented by the grayscale. The transect covers four montane forest ecosystems: Piedmont Forest (PMF; 500-1000 m asl), Lower Montane Forest (LMF; 1,001-2000 m asl), Montane Forest (MF; 2001-2900 m asl), and Upper Montane Forest (UMF; 2900-3600 m asl).

BIOMASS package in R (Réjou-Méchain *et al.*, 2017). The generation of a H:DBH model serves two roles: 1) it avoids under- and over-estimations of tree height at lowlands and highlands, respectively, and 2) it homogenizes above-ground biomass (AGB hereafter) estimates along the elevational gradient (Phillips *et al.*, 2019). The function utilizes four different models; two loglog polynomial models, a three-parameter Weibull model, and the two-parameter Michaelis-Menten model. The function with the lowest Residual Standard Error (RSE) and bias were considered the best estimate for each respective plot, following Duque *et al.* (2021) (Appendix A).

Carbon estimations were based on data integrated from all plots in the BIOMASS package (Réjou-Méchain *et al.*, 2017). The BIOMASS package first corrects and uses the last validated taxonomic names, and then determines the wood density values per species using the *getWoodDensity* function. This function assigned the WD values to each individual found in the plots according to available literature (Chave *et al.*, 2006; Zanne *et al.*, 2009). In cases where the WD value at the species level could not be assigned, the average value for the genus or family level was used. For individuals without a taxonomic identification, the average WD value of all other individuals found within the plot was used (Peña & Duque, 2013). Finally, for AGB estimates at the individual and plot level, the BIOMASS package uses a pantropical allometric equation developed by Chave *et al.* (2014) for tropical forests, defined as $AGB=0.0673 \times (WD \times DBH^2 \times H)^{0.976}$. Individual tree values (Kg) were summed to estimate the biomass at the plot level, which were then scaled to megagram (Mg) at the hectare level. To obtain above-ground carbon (AGC hereafter), I multiplied the individual plot AGB value by a conversion constant of 0.465 (Martin *et al.*, 2018).

Estimations of Above-ground Necromass Carbon Stocks (NCS) and Soil Organic Carbon (SOC)

To estimate the total carbon allocated between censuses, and as a complement of AGC, two of the main carbon pools (necromass and soil) were evaluated in 2015 and 2019. All leaf litter, fine wood debris (FWD), and sticks (diameter < 10 cm), were collected within nine nested subplots (0.5 cm x 0.5 cm) per plot (Pinto *et al.*, 2018). Samples were stored in bags, dried in the laboratory, and weighed (g) once they reached a stable dry weight (Ananias, 1998, Womac *et al.*, 2005). The individual values per subplot were added and then transformed to Mg to estimate mass per hectare. The NCS calculated per plot was converted to carbon units by applying the conversion factor, 0.465 (Martin *et al.*, 2018)

Soil samples within three of the nine nested subplots (0.5 cm x 0.5 cm) were collected at two depths (i.e., the first two soil horizons, H and A), where the greatest amount of organic matter is concentrated. To determine the sampling depth along the gradient, soil pits of 1 m³ were dug outside the plots, where soil horizons were defined and measured (Pinto *et al.*, 2018). Using a soil borer, the soil samples were collected and transported to the laboratory for processing. Soil samples for the first census were analyzed for C (%), N (%), and S (%) at the University of Amsterdam (UVA) using an Elementar-Organic Elemental Analysis (C / N elemental ratios of up to 7000:1 accuracy). For the 2019 census, macro-and micronutrient analyses were performed at Universidad de las Americas (UDLA) in Ecuador. To determine bulk density, I collected three undisturbed soil cores (4 cm of diameter x 5 cm in height) per plot, using Kopecky's still rings (Melo *et al.*, 2017), in an area free of litter and FWD. Soil Organic Carbon (SOC) was determined as C content (Mg ha⁻¹) = ($\rho * h * C$), where ρ = bulk density of the soil measured in g / cm³, h = depth at which the sample was taken (cm), and C = percentage by weight of organic carbon in the soil (Hribljan *et al.*, 2016).

Leaf functional traits (LFT)

LFT were analyzed at a community scale to generate community indices (scores), where the weighted mean values for each functional trait were analyzed (Ackerly & Cornwell, 2007). Community-Weighted mean values of morphological leaf traits (CWM_LFT) were taken from Llerena-Zambrano *et al.* (2021) and linked to the ecological data associated with each plot. Specifically, the following leaf functional traits were included: (1) leaf area (LA), (2) specific leaf area (SLA), (3) leaf blade thickness (LBT), and (4) Leaf dry matter content (LDMC).

Climate data

Two temperature sensors were established (TidbiT® v2 Temp Logger) on each plot in 2015, one buried 10 cm below ground surface (BG_{10cm}) and the other 10 cm above the ground surface (AG_{10cm}) to record the air temperature. To measure relative humidity as a complement to the temperature data, a "HOBO Pro v2 Temp / RH" sensor was established at 1 m above the ground surface, this sensor also provides an additional above-ground temperature record (AG_{1m}). The reported values in this study correspond to the main ecological filters that facilitate nutrient assimilation in Andean forest species (Leuschner *et al.*, 2007; Salinas *et al.*, 2011) such as, the minimum (minDT), mean (meanDT) and maximum (maxDT) daily temperatures (Appendix B), calculated across a 2016-2020 period. The ordination technique (PCA) was used to reduce the number of temperature variables that describe a pattern (PCA1_{Temp}), instead of individual variables: six above-ground temperatures (three to 10 cm and three to 1 m), and three below ground (10 cm). Then the PCA axes values were used as one of the climatic explanatory variables in our analyses (Appendix B), reducing the multicollinearity and better captures the temperature variations along the elevational gradient (Báez *et al.*, 2015; Llerena-Zambrano *et al.*,

2021). Mean annual precipitation (MAP) was extracted from the CHELSA bioclimatic datasets at 30 ArcSecond resolution (~1km² at the equator) (Karger *et al.*, 2017; Teunissen van Manen *et al.*, 2020).

Statistical Analysis

Species Richness and forest structure

To estimate tree-species richness, while also accounting for differences along the elevational transect, I used observed species richness (SR) and rarefied species richness (Homeier *et al.*, 2010). I used the Gotelli and Colwell (2001) individual-based rarefaction method, which takes the number of species expected in a sample of 220 trees from a 3600 m² plot, where 220 corresponds to the smallest number of trees found in one of the 16 plots (Homeier *et al.*, 2010). Bivariate regressions were performed to assess relationships between richness with elevation, temperature and precipitation throughout the transect, and a non-metric multidimensional scaling analysis (NMDS) was done to evaluate the similarity of arboreal communities or plots along the elevational gradient. Additionally, basal area (BA), H, DBH, square root DBH (to provide equal representability to all diametric classes and reduce the biased effect of the biggest and smallest tree diameters), and WD were evaluated across the elevational gradient to determine structural plots variations.

Effects of disturbance on Above-ground carbon (AGC) stocks and dynamics

To assess the effect of past human disturbances on carbon stocks and productivity, a sizedependent parameter of mortality (β) was performed in RStudio, with a binomial error structure (Coomes & Allen, 2007). β derives from the logistic regression logit (pD) = a+bD, where pD is the probability of death and *D* is the initial stem size. This parameter discriminates plots as ranging from a) plots influenced by competitive thinning following internal disturbance (low β) to b) plots more influenced by active disturbances (high β) (Duque *et al.*, 2021).

Above-ground carbon (AGC) stocks and dynamics variation along the elevational gradient

Bivariate linear regression analyses were used to assess the variation of carbon stocks along the elevation gradient. I tested a series of different metrics for AGC stocks and productivity, such as AGC of 2019 census (AGC_{final}), AGC net change (AGC_{nc}), AGC productivity (AGC_p), and AGC mortality (AGC_k), as well as several possible predictor variables, which included climate factors, CWM_LFT, soil properties, and disturbance metrics (Appendix C). Environmental variables such as daily temperatures and annual precipitation were highly correlated (Pearson = -0.9816, p < 0.000; Pearson = -0.8439, p < 0.0001, respectively) with elevation, and thus elevation was not included in the bivariate analyses (Appendix D). The AGC net change (Mg ha¹ y¹) was calculated as the difference between the AGC stocks in the last census (2019) and the AGC stocks in the initial census (2015); this value was then divided by the elapsed time period (4 years) (Duque *et al.*, 2021). To estimate the AGC productivity (Mg ha⁻¹ y^{-1}) referred to as AGC growth of survivors and recruits between 2015 and 2019, I considered the growth of living trees between that 4-year period, the growth of 2017 recruits for a two-year period (2017-2019), and the recruits at the time of the last census in 2019 (Phillips et al., 2019). To avoid overestimations of the overall increase in AGC due to recruitment (Feeley et al., 2011), I subtracted the AGC corresponding to a tree of 4.99 cm per recruit or individuals with DBH \geq 5 cm; in this way, I consider only the increment over 5 cm as growth in recruits (Talbot et al., 2014). To annualize productivity, the individual growth values were summed to obtain a per plot

value, which was then divided by the time interval between censuses (2 or 4 years). AGC mortality (Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) was calculated as the sum of the AGC of all individuals that died between censuses (Duque *et al.*, 2021), divided by the time between measurements.

Biotic and abiotic drivers of spatial variation of Above-ground carbon (AGC) stocks and dynamics

Structural equation model (SEM) analyses were performed to determine the influence of biotic, abiotic and disturbance factors as possible determinants of carbon stocks and productivity variation along the transect (Grace, 2006; Shipley, 2016; van der Sande *et al.*, 2017b). The SEMs included climate, CWM-LFT, soil properties, species richness, the Beta-parameter as a disturbance proxy, and the four different AGC metrics as exogenous variables. I performed a series of pair-wise Pearson-correlation analyses to determine explanatory variables to be used in the SEM, among all possible predictor values: AGC metrics, abiotic factors (temperature, precipitation, and disturbance parameter), and biotic factors (species richness and CWM-LFT) (Appendix E). To determine significant sources of variation in AGC stocks and dynamics across the gradient, I used five SEM models for ACG_{final}, nine for AGC_{nt}, six for AGC_p, and three for AGC_k (Appendix F). I used the Akaike information criterion (AIC) and Root mean square error (RMSE) to identify the most parsimonious model per metric following Grace (2006).

To evaluate the significant relationships (total, direct and indirect effects) between endogenous and exogenous variables, I used a bootstrapping analysis that assesses the mean, and 95% confidence intervals (CI), of the selected AGC models (Appendix G to J). To assess the importance of each group of explanatory variables for explaining changes in the AGC stocks and dynamics along the elevational gradient, I used estimates of standardized coefficients in each path of the model and R² for each of the AGC endogenous variables. All statistical analyses were performed in JMP 8 (Inc., 2008), SPSS AMOS 27 (Arbuckle, 2006), PRIMER 6 (Clarke & Gorley, 2006), and R Studio statistical software (RCoreTeam, 2017).

RESULTS

Species richness (SR) and forest structure

A total of 7432 stems (dbh \geq 5 cm) were measured and a total of 82 families, 205 genera, and 432 species were identified; 90% of the stems were identified at the species level, 7% at family and genus level, and only 3% were unidentified. The most abundant families in the transect were Lauraceae (32 spp.), Melastomataceae (31 spp.), Rubiaceae (29 spp.), Fabaceae (26 spp.), and Moraceae (26 spp.). The lowest section of the transect (piedmont forest [PMF] between 600 and 1000 m asl) was characterized by common lowland tree families such as Fabaceae, Rubiaceae, and Moraceae. At mid-elevation (between 1200 and 2900 m asl), Lauraceae and Melastomataceae, Asteraceae, and Solanaceae contributed to the majority of species. *Dussia lehmannii* (632-2492 m asl), *Turpinia occidentalis* (632-3109 m asl), *Critoniopsis occidentalis* (1018-2932 m asl), *Guarea kunthiana*, *Miconia clathrantha* (653-3109 m asl), and *Miconia theaezans* (1018-3109 m asl) were the more common species, present in at least in 50% of the plots throughout the transect.

The bivariate regression analysis explained the SR variation along the elevational gradient (Figure 2). SR decreased as elevation increased ($R^2=0.69$, p<0.0001) (Appendix C), where MALO_02, at 800 m asl, was the plot with the highest number of species (113 spp.), and YANA_01, at 3500 m asl, showed the lowest number (18 spp.) (Table 1). Species richness



Figure 2. Bivariate relationships between rarefied species richness (SR_{RAREFIED}) and A) elevation, B) mean daily temperature (MDT), C) annual precipitation (AP), and D) a cumulative frequency curve of trees abundance and species percentage in the tropical Andean montane forests (TAMF) of Pichincha, Ecuador. $R^2 adj = Adjusted$ coefficient of determination of the overall model.

absolute basal area (BA), tree density (TD), mean diameter at breast height (DBH), mean tree height (H), mean square root DBH (DBH_{SQR}), mean wood density (WD), annual temperature (AP), and mean daily temperature (MDT), and minimum mean daily Ecuadorian Andes. The table also describes the observed species richness (SROBSERVED); rarefied species richness (SRRAREFED), Table 1. Climate and forest structure conditions of 16 permanent plots along an elevational transect in the western flank of the temperature (minDT) per plot.

Plot ID	Elevation (m asl)	SR OBSERVED	SR RAREFIED	QT (II)	BA (m2)	DBH (cm)	H (m)	DBH _{SQR}	MWD (g cm-3)	AP (mm)	MDT (°C)	minDT (°C)
MAPI_02	632	62	62.04	364	8.55	13.45	13.39	3.48	0.50	2111	23.43	22.23
MAPI_01	653	LL	59.93	356	8.84	14.05	13.75	3.55	0.51	2075	23.43	22.23
MALO_02	827	108	81.51	406	12.07	14.18	13.15	3.51	0.60	2253	20.72	19.65
MALO_01	1018	101	78.12	378	8.83	14.16	12.43	3.58	0.57	2255	19.70	18.79
MIND_01	1277	86	63.92	419	9.67	13.07	11.52	3.41	0.50	2704	18.88	17.23
$RIBR_01$	1640	86	60.65	537	8.60	12.14	10.55	3.37	0.55	2347	16.94	15.22
INTI_02	1829	73	47.66	561	9.02	11.42	10.72	3.22	0.37	1939	16.12	14.46
INTI_01	1879	60	46.49	435	10.68	13.59	10.86	3.47	0.42	2076	16.12	14.30
BECL_03	2203	42	39.25	256	6.87	15.06	10.04	3.69	0.54	1595	14.01	12.13
CEDR_03	2212	52	46.53	364	11.38	15.10	11.32	3.64	0.54	1351	14.40	12.66
BECL_01	2313	43	37.19	328	8.31	15.68	13.56	3.83	0.56	1595	13.72	12.14
CEDR_01	2492	99	50.97	474	11.13	13.98	10.08	3.56	0.54	1471	13.13	11.38
VERD_02	2932	51	38.98	473	7.84	12.21	10.79	3.36	0.52	1251	10.29	7.96
VERD_03	3109	39	33.13	464	8.93	12.63	8.51	3.37	0.53	1251	9.86	7.98
VERD_01	3421	31	26.68	625	10.65	12.54	8.01	3.42	0.55	1271	8.31	6.33
YANA_01	3507	17	17	220	9.77	18.64	11.25	4.07	0.59	1337	7.43	5.21
Mean		63	49	416.25	9.45	13.87	11.25	3.53	0.52	1805	15.41	13.74
(∓SD)		(± 18)	(1 5)	(± 106.75)	(± 1.41)	(±1.74)	(±1.70)	(± 0.21)	(± 0.06)	(± 468)	(±4.99)	(± 5.32)
R2 adj		0.75	0.79	-0.05	-0.07	-0.03	0.50	-0.008	-0.04	0.69	0.99	0.99
p value		<0.0001	<0.0001	0.64	0.98	0.46	<0.01	0.37	0.57	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001

increased with temperature and decreased as air conditions became colder (Figure 2A). A similar trend was observed with annual precipitation (Figure 2B). After comparing rarefied species numbers and observed species, the regression trend was similar but the slope curve was not as steep because of the slightly higher tree densities at lower elevations (Homeier *et al.*, 2010). Additionally, the frequency curve shows no oligarchic species or the dominance of species over the rest (Figure 2D), suggesting a high species turnover between plots, along the transect. The NMDS confirmed the aggregation of the species composition in four major groups (Figure 3), related to the type of forest and suggesting a high dissimilitude rate and high rareness species patterns.

The mean tree-height across the gradient was 11.25 ± 1.70 m, with the tallest trees being present in the lowlands, 13.18 ± 0.56 m, below 1000 m asl. Tree-height significantly decreased as elevation increased (Table 1), where the smallest trees (9.64 ± 1.62 m) were observed over 2900 m asl. The mean basal area in the transect was 9.45 ± 1.41 m², and I did not observe significant differences along the elevation gradient (Table 1). The mean WD and DBH for all plots was 0.52 ± 0.06 g cm⁻³ and 13.87 ± 1.74 cm, respectively. I did not observe significant differences along the elevation gradient for WD and DBH (Table 1).

Above-ground Carbon stocks and dynamics

Most of the AGC metrics, except AGC_k, showed a significant relationship with climate (p < 0.05) (Table 2). The mean AGC_{final} reported for the 16 plots was 81.4 ± 25.9 Mg C ha⁻¹, reaching its highest values, 157.6 Mg C ha⁻¹, at 800 m asl and decreasing up to 46.4 Mg C ha⁻¹ at 3100 m asl, indicating that AGC_{final} stocks significantly increased concomitantly with temperature. The mean AGC_{nc} and AGC_p across the transect were 1.20 ± 0.89 Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ and



Figure 3. Non-metric multidimensional scaling analysis (NMDS) to evaluate the similarity of arboreal communities (plots) along an elevational gradient in the Andean forest in the west flank of Pichincha province. The similarity distance used is Bray-Curtis with the presence-absence scores of the species as the main grouping criterion.

Table 2. Above-ground biomass stocks variations for 16 permanent plots along an elevational transect during three censuses in a long-term monitoring system in the northwest flank of Pichincha province in the Ecuadorian Andes. AGC1= above-ground biomass in 2015, AGC_{final}= above-ground biomass in 2019, AGC_{nc}= above-ground biomass net change, AGC_p= above-ground biomass productivity, and AGC_k= above-ground biomass mortality.

Plot ID	Elevation (m asl)	AGC1 (Mg ha ⁻¹)	AGC _{final} (Mg ha ⁻¹)	AGC _{nc} (Mg ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)	AGC _p (Mg ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)	AGCk (Mg ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)
MAPI_02	632	73.30	80.07	1.69	2.11	0.40
MAPI_01	653	76.68	84.80	2.03	3.04	1.02
MALO_02	827	147.91	157.57	2.42	2.77	0.44
MALO_01	1018	92.90	96.58	0.92	2.87	2.14
MIND_01	1277	84.96	91.79	1.71	2.56	0.79
RIBR_01	1640	62.87	67.83	1.24	3.54	2.42
INTI_02	1829	62.90	66.79	0.97	1.65	0.83
INTI_01	1879	87.29	93.61	1.58	1.66	0.31
BECL_03	2203	58.34	63.28	1.23	1.80	0.62
CEDR_03	2212	94.27	99.60	1.33	3.10	1.27
BECL_01	2313	61.19	73.64	3.11	3.55	0.62
CEDR_01	2492	84.04	84.89	0.21	1.81	1.33
VERD_02	2932	45.10	46.57	0.37	0.70	0.36
VERD_03	3109	44.91	46.43	0.38	0.77	0.53
VERD_01	3421	68.52	69.26	0.19	1.70	1.10
YANA_01	3507	75.92	75.42	-0.13	1.08	0.51
Mean (±SD)		76.32 (±24.39)	81.4 (±25.95)	1.20 (±0.89)	2.16 (±0.92)	0.92 (±0.62)
R ² Adj		0.20	0.28	0.39	0.32	-0.03
p value		0.049	0.019	0.006	0.013	0.499

2.16 \pm 0.92 Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹, respectively. Plots from the lower end of the transect, on average, showed a higher AGC_{nc} (1.7 \pm 0.6 Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) and AGC_p (2.7 \pm 0.4 Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) than plots at higher elevations (> 2900 m), 0.2 \pm 0.2 Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ and 1.1 \pm 0.5, respectively (Table 3). The mean AGC_k was 0.92 (\pm 0.62) Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ and did not change significantly across the elevational gradient (Table 3). The net increase was the result of 1.07 Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ greater mean in AGC productivity (1.99 Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) than the mean AGC mortality (0.92 Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹).

Given that PCA1_{Temp} and AP were highly correlated with elevation (Appendix E), I only used *Climate* variables to explain variations in these variables across the elevational gradient, also AP presented a high correlation with PCA1_{Temp} in all models (r=0.83, p<0.01). In addition, no significant differences were found for NCS and SOC between census (p > 0.05) or for biotic and abiotic sources of variation. The mean NCS and SOC for all plots was 6.25 ± 2.43 Mg ha⁻¹ and 96.54 ± 29.60 Mg ha⁻¹, respectively (Appendix C). Given these results, NCS and SOC were considered as explanatory variables for AGC stocks and dynamics in this study.

The best fit SEMs for AGC metrics were PCA1_{Temp}, AP, rarefied SR, and CWM_LBT in three of the four metrics used in this analysis (Appendix F). The selected model for AGC_{final} (lowest AIC and RMSE values) showed a positive significant relationship with BA (p < 0.01) and PCA1_{Temp} (p < 0.05), where rarefied SR, CWM-LBT, and AP did not have a significant effect on AGC_{final} (Appendix G). However, rarefied SR was positively related (p < 0.01) to PCA1_{Temp} (Figure 4A), and both PCA1_{Temp} and AP showed a significant negative effect (p < 0.05) with CWM-LBT (Appendix G).

Only abiotic parameters such as $PCA1_{Temp}$ determined the main sources of variation in most of the ACG dynamics variables, which has a positive and direct significant effect over AGC_{nc} (p < 0.05) (Figure 4B) and AGC_{p} (p = 0.05) (Figure 4C). AGC productivity did not have a

Table 3. Mean above-ground biomass stocks (\pm SD) variations by elevation range in four years period in a long-term monitoring system in the northwest flank of Pichincha province in the Ecuadorian Andes. AGC₁= above-ground biomass in 2015, AGC_{final}= above-ground biomass in 2019, AGC_{nc}= above-ground biomass net change, AGC_p= above-ground biomass productivity, and AGC_k= above-ground biomass mortality.

Elevation range (m asl)	AGC ₁ (Mg ha ⁻¹)	AGC _{final} (Mg ha ⁻¹)	AGC _{nc} (Mg ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)	AGC _p (Mg ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)	AGC _k (Mg ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)
600-1000	97.7 (±34.6)	104.8 (±35.9)	1.7 (±0.6)	2.7 (±0.4)	1.0 (±0.8)
1001-2000	74.5 (±13.5)	80.0 (±14.7)	1.4 (±0.3)	2.4 (±0.9)	1.1 (±0.9)
2001-2900	74.5 (±17.5)	80.4 (±15.6)	1.5 (±1.2)	2.7 (±0.9)	1.0 (±0.4)
2901-3500	58.6 (±16.0)	59.4 (±15.1)	0.2 (±0.2)	1.1 (±0.5)	0.6 (±0.3)








Figure 4. Structural equation models (SEMs) used to evaluate the effects of biotic, abiotic, and the size-dependent probability of mortality (β) on above-ground carbon dynamics. A) AGC_{final} = above-ground carbon stock in 2019, B) AGC_{nc} = above-ground carbon net change (Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹), C) AGC_p = above-ground carbon productivity (Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹), and D) AGC_k = above-ground carbon mortality (Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹). Where, PCA1_{Temp} = mean daily temperature, AP = annual precipitation, BA = basal area, rarefied SR = rarefied species richness per plot, CWM_LBT = community weighted mean leaf blade thickness, CWM_LA = community weighted mean leaf area. The values over the arrows correspond to the linear coefficients of the predictor variables. Positive numbers and blue arrows represent positive relationships, negative numbers with red arrows determine negative relationships, and black arrows illustrate non-significant relationships between variables. Thickest arrows define highly significant relationships ($p \le 0.01$), thinner arrows determine significant relationships (0.01). R² = Coefficient of determination of the overall model.

significant association with the biotic predictor variables (Appendix I), and both rarefied SR and CWM-LBT were positive and negatively correlated to PCA1_{Temp} (p < 0.05) respectively (Figure 4C and Appendix I). AGC_{nc} presents a similar pattern (Appendix H and Figure 4B). CWM-LBT and CWM-LA were not significant predictors of AGC_{nc} spatial variation along the elevation gradient (p > 0.05). Yet, CWM-LBT was negatively affected by PCA1_{Temp} and AP ((p < 0.01), where CWM-LA and rarefied SR were positively affected by PCA1_{Temp} (p < 0.01) (Figure 4B). This emphasizes the positive relationship between AGC dynamics and temperature, and a negative non-significant relationship between AGC_{nc} and AGC_p with precipitation along the gradient. The β -parameter showed a negative non-significant tendency with AGC_{nc} in the model (p=0.06) (Appendix H; Figure 4B). Unlike AGC_{nc} and AGC_p, AGC mortality was not correlated with climate nor with the biotic explanatory variables in the model (Appendix E). AGC_k showed a significant association with N_{Soil} and the β parameter (p < 0.05), and highly negatively related to soil nitrogen (p < 0.01).

DISCUSSION

Forest composition and structure

I found that tree species richness decreased with increasing elevation, a pattern found in previous studies aimed at assessing spatial patterns of plant diversity in Andean forests along elevation gradients (Gentry, 1995; Lieberman *et al.*, 1996; Young *et al.*, 2002; Homeier *et al.*, 2010). I recorded the highest levels of species richness in the piedmont forests under 1000 m asl, which coincides with the warmest and wettest area along the transect (Table 1). A decline in tree species richness with elevation was related to declining temperatures and a reduction in annual

precipitation (Figure 2). Water availability and temperature are essential for plant growth because they inject the energy input into ecosystems, and a limitation of these resources influences richness patterns and community configuration (Kessler & Kluge, 2008); previous findings suggest strong environmental filtering at both low and high elevations (Chase & Leibold, 2002; Rahbek, 2005; Colwell et al., 2008; Luo et al., 2019a). The observed decline in species richness and increased dissimilarity in community composition above 1200 m asl, according to NMDS analysis, evidently involves other environmental factors that influenced our results (Figure 3). For example, a reduction in land area with increasing elevation (Jiménez-Castillo et al., 2007), coupled with increased cloud cover (Jarvis & Mulligan, 2011; Fyllas et al., 2017), likely reduced the photosynthetic capacity of species at high elevation sites (Malhi et al., 2017). In the same forests at my study site, Llerena-Zambrano et al. (2021) found a marked shift in species resource acquisition strategies, where species with acquisitive strategies dominate the lower end of the transect, whereas species with more conservative strategies dominate the upper section of the transect. Here, species with acquisitive strategies have a short leaf lifespan with large specific leaf area (SLA) (i.e., efficient deployment of leaf area per unit biomass invested), high nitrogen (N) concentration, and thus, high assimilation and respiration rates. Alternatively, species with conservative strategies show low SLA and slow metabolic rates (Llambí et al., 2003; Poorter & Bongers, 2006). Collectively my results most likely represent a combined strategy conferring tolerance to wind dryness and low-temperature stress together with lower energy availability (Niinemets, 2001; Vendramini et al., 2002). Moreover, I did not find that oligarchic species, or the dominance of species, over the rest along the gradient, which agrees with the hypothesis of high species turnover along the elevational gradient (Hall et al., 1998; Homeier et al., 2010). This result suggests that even under mid successional stages, the turnover of species as a

response to intrinsic local environmental conditions is still evident in Andean forests (Stephenson & van Mantgem, 2005). However, further empirical studies are needed to confirm this possible source of variation.

Our results also showed that the height of trees decreased as elevation increased, a trend similar to those found in other studies (e.g., Lieberman et al. (1996)). I observed a decrease in the tree height from ca. 13.2 m on average at piedmont (600 - 1000 m asl) to ca. 9.5 m at the upper montane forest over the 2900 m asl. This result is similar to those found by Homeier et al. (2010), who report a decrease in tree height from ca. 14 m at 1800 m asl to ca. 7 m at 2450 m asl. Collectively, these findings highlight the importance of the inclusion of tree height in AGC estimations in Andean forests, where height is likely the dominant factor influencing reported declines in above-ground carbon stocks with increasing elevation (Girardin et al., 2010; Feldpausch et al., 2012); other estimators (e.g., DBH, BA, WD) do not typically change across elevational transects (Peña et al., 2018). The absence of a climate effect on WD found in my study may be explained by the age of the secondary successional forest, dominated by mid- and late-successional species. Overall, these results confirm those of other studies that also show a lack of association between climate and BA and DBH, where Girardin et al. (2014) found no trend for changes in the basal area across elevational transects in Bolivia, Peru, and Ecuador, and Leuschner et al. (2013) who also found no significant decrease in BA and DBH with an increase in elevation.

AGC stocks and dynamics variation along elevational gradients in Andean forest

AGC stocks patterns along elevational gradients in Andean forest

According to SEM analysis, AGC_{final} increased linearly with $PCA1_{Temp}$ (Figure 4A), which agrees with previous studies in Andean forests (Girardin *et al.*, 2010; Moser *et al.*, 2011;

Girardin *et al.*, 2014; Phillips *et al.*, 2019). This result indicates that understanding how temperature influences AGC stocks and dynamics may be primarily based on variation in elevation (Muller-Landau *et al.*, 2021). Although most of the temperature variation across the gradient was explained by elevation (r = -0.98, p < 0.01) (Peña *et al.*, 2018), our SEM analysis revealed a unimodal pattern for AGC_{final} along our elevational gradient, with peak values at 1000 m asl (PMF), under warmer conditions, and lower values at higher elevations. Minimum daily temperature (minDT) acts as one of the main environmental filters for plant processes in Andean forests, reducing the root nutrient uptake capacity of the species (Engels & Marschner, 1990) through a decrease in the nutrient availability (Leuschner *et al.*, 2007; Salinas *et al.*, 2011). In addition, the effects of minDT can make xylem and phloem transportation difficult due to changes in the water viscosity or freezing (Cavender-Bares (2005). Taken together, the observed AGC_{final} values over 2900 m asl, or in the upper montane forest (UMF), found in this study are likely a response to colder temperatures (MDT between 7 °C and 10 °C), lower BA (Homeier *et al.*, 2010) and the stunted stature of trees (Slik *et al.*, 2010).

The results of this study seem to confirm that BA stands as a good predictor for AGC since it integrates the effect of both the number and size of trees (Burrows *et al.*, 2000). BA showed a strong positive correlation with AGC_{final} that is similar to findings from other studies (Slik *et al.*, 2010; Slik *et al.*, 2015), where BA represents the main source of change in AGC stocks along an elevational gradient in Borneo, although the opposite trend has been found in the Andean region (Girardin *et al.*, 2014; Malhi *et al.*, 2017). This discrepancy may underscore a complex relationship between BA and AGC stocks that certainly deserves more evaluation. Malhi *et al.* (2017) suggested that this variability is strongly associated with a variation in forest stature, rather than changes in basal area, and Vitousek and Farrington (1997) stated that

variations in BA and its relationship with AGC stocks seem to be limited by nutrient shortage variations along the elevational gradients. We know that minDT indirectly affects some ecological mechanisms in nature, such as cloud formation (Eller *et al.*, 2020), and Grubb & Whitmore (1966) highlight that in Andean forests, there is a gradation in cloud cover, which ranges from almost insignificant in the PMF, frequent in the MF, to constant in the UMF. In the Andean forest at my study site, the cloud immersion zone could lead to a reduction in solar radiation that, in turn, causes a decrease in the photosynthetic capacity rates of trees (Malhi *et al.*, 2017), with a concomitant reduction in their capacity to accumulate biomass at higher elevations. Future studies should increase efforts to understand the underlying effects of the frequency of clouds over AGC stocks by increasing spatial and temporal sampling regimes.

AGC dynamics patterns along elevational gradients in Andean forest

The temperature may also be the main driver of AGC dynamics at my study site because of its direct and positive effect over AGC_{nc} and AGC_p, which increased significantly when temperature also increased across the elevational gradient. Duque *et al.* (2021) reported an AGC net change of 0.67 \pm 0.08 Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ for an Andean forest plot network, almost two times lower than the mean annual net change AGC found in the present research (1.20 \pm 0.89 Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹). In addition, both mean AGC_{nc} and AGC_p (2.16 \pm 0.92 Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) found in the present study represent just a small portion of the AGC_{nc} and AGC_p reported for an Andean Colombian forest; 2.21 \pm 0.51 Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ and 5.54 \pm 0.23 Mg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹, respectively (Peña *et al.*, 2018). However, due to climate change and the increasing temperatures, the productivity rates could change due to the upslope migration of species, or thermophilization effect, while adapting to their thermal optima. Tropical plants may be especially susceptible to climate change because of their narrow thermal niches (Perez *et al.*, 2016). An increase in temperature that provokes

species migration will also affect the rates of biomass productivity along elevational gradients in the TMF. But in mountainous ecosystems, the presence of distinct ecotones represents the main barrier for this migration. For example, the transition from montane rainforest to cloud forest at mid-elevations and the transition from closed-canopy forest to open alpine grasslands at high elevations could limit the translocation of species. Ultimately, such temperature effects can potentially reduce establishment success of colonizers and favour stability of incumbent communities.

Approximately 70% of the annual net gain in Andean forests are related to an increase in both temperature and CO₂ deposition (McMahon *et al.*, 2019), and temperature regulates both plant photosynthesis and metabolism (Sundqvist et al. (2013), which directly controls the metabolic processes essential for the production of new tissues (leaves and bark). For example, in the Andean forest, high elevations with low temperatures can decrease tree investment in fine roots, which in turn causes a decline in wood production (Leuschner et al., 2007; Moser et al., 2010; Malhi et al., 2017). Such MinDTs could play a key role over AGC dynamics at my study site, which is also known to decrease nitrogen availability (Salinas et al., 2011). N_{Soil} constituted the most consistent driver of AGC_k, which reflects that the N_{soil} limitation or a decrease in N_{soil} in the Andean forests reduce the capacity of root formation (Moser et al., 2010) and thus a reduction in nutrient assimilation and a concomitant increase in mortality. For instance, in the lowlands, the high mortality rates can contribute to lower nitrogen accumulation in soils due to a significant increase in AGC_p (p = 0.06). Whereas, at high elevations, due to low temperatures and high soil water content, nitrogen mineralization rates and the availability of nutrients in soils can also decrease (Benner et al., 2010), which in turn can lead to a reduction in foliar nitrogen and the phosphorus necessary for photosynthesis (van de Weg et al., 2009; Wittich et al., 2012).

Nonetheless, Peña and Duque (2013) acknowledge that in secondary forests, the exclusive competition between species may not have occurred before canopy closure, which may reduce the importance of soil-fertility over mortality rates at my study site.

Most of the other soil properties in our study were not related to AGC dynamics, a result that is similar to Phillips et al. (2019) (although, see Poorter et al. (2017). This lack of signal for AGC dynamics suggests that it may be difficult to detect differences along the gradient, due in part to the effects of the land-use changes in the Andean forest on the west flank of Pichincha province. I found that disturbance and self-thinning modify the forest dynamics at my site. There was a positive significant correlation between β -parameter and AGC mortality and a marginally significant negative trend with AGC net change throughout the transect. The size-dependent variables, β -parameter and AGC_k, were intrinsically related because the death of big trees with high C stocks contributes to greater declines in AGC stocks on a large scale (Duque *et al.*, 2021). These results support the hypothesis that past human disturbances partially explain the carbon stocks and dynamics rates along an elevational gradient. β-parameter, which discriminates plots influenced by competitive thinning following internal disturbance (low β) to plots affected by active disturbances (high β), is considered as a determinant in AGC mortality in the Andean forest. It is essential to define the extent and magnitude of its effect (β -parameter) over natural dynamics with more studies in tropical montane forest ecosystems.

Notwithstanding, the information presented here points to the importance of measuring forest disturbances (β -parameter) in tropical forests as a key regulator of forest productivity. Here, it is evident that CO₂ fertilization, increasing temperatures, droughts, and the effect of disturbances may all impact tree growth and mortality (Hubau *et al.*, 2020). For example, the negative association between β and AGC_{nt} suggests that after human disturbances, the major gain in AGC_{nt} are related to the growth of big trees and an increase in the mortality of small trees due to competitive thinning (Coomes & Allen, 2007; Duque *et al.*, 2021). In addition, logging reduces above- and below-ground biomass carbon stocks but also increases light availability utilized by trees at different forest strata. As a result, there may be an increase in ecosystem productivity (Peña-Claros *et al.*, 2008; van der Sande *et al.*, 2017b) over the next 3 - 10 years until the canopy closes again in the PMF and UPM.

The positive relationship between PCA1_{Temp} and AGC dynamics may be driven by species composition along elevation gradients at a large scale (Rapp et al., 2012). Notwithstanding, I did not identify a significant association among AGC dynamics with rarefied species richness or leaf traits. Other studies have shown that different plant communities, in addition to the density of species, influence changes in edaphic conditions, like nutrients and organic matter availability in the soil (Veneklaas, 1990), thus affecting the productivity rates in time. The Andean forest has shown a strong capacity for long-term AGC increases and recovery due to the upslope migration of species, which further indicates that forest succession in the tropical Andes might significantly increase carbon accumulation in trees (Duque *et al.*, 2021). Collectively, SEM results suggest that diversity mechanisms may not universally apply throughout tropical forests (van der Sande *et al.*, 2017c). Studies that attempt to quantify productivity in Andean forests are limited in number. Additionally, the inclusion of different diversity metrics, like phylogenetic diversity, is also relevant and could help to elucidate this relationship. By linking phylogenetic diversity and dispersion to determine assembly mechanisms of forests (i.e., AGB storage and productivity), phylogenetic analysis can reveal aspects of biodiversity not ordinarily observable and improve our understanding of the ecology,

evolution, and biogeography of plant communities in TMFs (Maherali & Klironomos, 2007; Cadotte *et al.*, 2008; Worthy *et al.*, 2019).

Finally, contrary to our expectations, our SEM results indicate that annual precipitation (AP) did not significantly affect AGC_{final}, AGC_{nt}, AGC_p, or AGC_k. This result is similar to other studies that found that biomass productivity is weakly correlated with annual rainfall (e.g., Clark *et al.* (2001), Fehse *et al.* (2002), Del Grosso *et al.* (2008)). However, Poorter *et al.* (2017) hypothesized that AGC stocks and dynamics are strongly affected by water availability, where AGC should increase when water availability increases. Water is essential for the growth of trees (van der Sande *et al.*, 2015). In the forest canopy, in particular, large trees deal with higher radiation loads, vapour pressure deficits, and ultimately increased drought stress due to longer hydraulic paths (Bennett *et al.*, 2015). This result, coupled with those of my study, suggest the effect of AP on AGC stocks and dynamics could be masked by exogenous factors such as temperature (PCA1_{Temp}), which is highly correlated with AP at my study site.

CONCLUSIONS

The present study emphasizes that species richness, carbon stored in biomass, and its associated dynamics in the Andean forests, are subject to structuring mechanisms and ecological processes, including, soil nutriets, elevation and climate (Takyu *et al.*, 2003; Girardin *et al.*, 2010). This result supports the hypotheses that the main filters for species richness, AGC stocks and patterns of AGC dynamics along the elevational gradient are temperature, soil conditions and past human disturbance. The strong effect of temperature over the forest structure and AGC dynamics suggest that ongoing climate change could alter tree communities (Duque *et al.*, 2015; Fadrique *et al.*, 2018) and forest dynamics through changes in the dispersal strategies of tree species in the

Andean mountains (Llerena-Zambrano *et al.*, 2021). Supposing that species composition and distribution are, in part, determined by climate, an increase in global temperatures may cause upward shifts in tree communities in the Andean forest since temperatures decrease predictably with increasing elevation (Colwell *et al.*, 2008; Feeley *et al.*, 2011). Fadrique *et al.* (2018) acknowledged that rates of compositional change are average ten times slower than regional mean annual temperature changes, suggesting that many tropical tree species may already be occurring in sub-optimal conditions. However, the difference between climate change and thermofilization rates due to ecotonal barriers for migration may prove responsible for extinction and biodiversity loss because many species are unable to quickly respond to climate change (Bertrand *et al.*, 2011; Devictor *et al.*, 2012; Fadrique *et al.*, 2018).

The Andean region is a mosaic of natural habitats that are responsible, in part, for the spatial heterogeneity in AGC stocks and dynamics (Valencia *et al.*, 2004; Girardin *et al.*, 2010), due to human disturbances, which represents another important driver of AGC dynamics in our transect. However, it is essential to evaluate the disturbance effect over different forest components such as the soil and its similar effect in AGC stocks and dynamics. Soil conditions can change gradually with time (Terán-Valdez *et al.*, 2019), and sampling along the gradient is needed to determine the impact and direction of soil conditions over AGC dynamics under current degradation scenarios. Finally, the inclusion of additional sources of variation (e.g., cloud cover and phylogenetic diversity) as possible drivers of AGC and productivity variations along elevational gradients represent a key next step to complement gaps in our knowledge of the natural dynamics that determine Andean forest composition. Such knowledge will ultimately contribute to conservation initiatives for this increasingly threatened ecosystem.

REFERENCES

- Ackerly, D.D. & Cornwell, W.K. (2007) A trait-based approach to community assembly: partitioning of species trait values into within- and among-community components. *Ecology Letters*, **10**, 135-145.
- Aide, T.M., Grau, H.R., Graesser, J., Andrade-Nuñez, M.J., Aráoz, E., Barros, A.P., Campos-Cerqueira, M., Chacon-Moreno, E., Cuesta, F., Espinoza, R., Peralvo, M., Polk, M.H., Rueda, X., Sanchez, A., Young, K.R., Zarbá, L. & Zimmerer, K.S. (2019) Woody vegetation dynamics in the tropical and subtropical Andes from 2001 to 2014: Satellite image interpretation and expert validation. *Global Change Biology*, 25, 2112-2126.

Arbuckle, J.L. (2006) Amos SPSS.

- Báez, S., Malizia, A., Carilla, J., Blundo, C., Aguilar, M., Aguirre, N., Aquirre, Z., Álvarez, E., Cuesta, F., Duque, Á., Farfán-Ríos, W., García-Cabrera, K., Grau, R., Homeier, J., Linares-Palomino, R., Malizia, L.R., Cruz, O.M., Osinaga, O., Phillips, O.L., Reynel, C., Silman, M.R. & Feeley, K.J. (2015) Large-Scale Patterns of Turnover and Basal Area Change in Andean Forests. *PLOS ONE*, 10, e0126594.
- Baker, T.R., Phillips, O.L., Laurance, W.F., Pitman, N.C.A., Almeida, S., Arroyo, L., Difiore, A., Erwin, T., Higuchi, N., Killeen, T.J., Laurance, S.G., Nascimento, H., Monteagudo, A., Neill, D.A., Silva, J.N.M., Malhi, Y., López Gonzalez, G., Peacock, J., Quesada, C.A., Lewis, S.L. & Lloyd, J. (2009) Do species traits determine patterns of wood production in Amazonian forests? *Biogeosciences*, 6, 297.
- Beer, C., Reichstein, M., Tomelleri, E., Ciais, P., Jung, M., Carvalhais, N., Rödenbeck, C., Arain, M.A., Baldocchi, D., Bonan, G.B., Bondeau, A., Cescatti, A., Lasslop, G., Lindroth, A., Lomas, M., Luyssaert, S., Margolis, H., Oleson, K.W., Roupsard, O., Veenendaal, E., Viovy, N., Williams, C., Woodward, F.I. & Papale, D. (2010) Terrestrial Gross Carbon Dioxide Uptake: Global Distribution and Covariation with Climate. *Science*, 329, 834-838.
- Bennett, A.C., McDowell, N.G., Allen, C.D. & Anderson-Teixeira, K.J. (2015) Larger trees suffer most during drought in forests worldwide. *Nature Plants*, 1, 15139.
- Bertrand, R., Lenoir, J., Piedallu, C., Riofrío-Dillon, G., de Ruffray, P., Vidal, C., Pierrat, J.-C. & Gégout, J.-C. (2011) Changes in plant community composition lag behind climate warming in lowland forests. *Nature*, **479**, 517-520.
- Bonan, G.B. (2008) Forests and climate change: forcings, feedbacks, and the climate benefits of forests. *science*, **320**, 1444-1449.
- Brienen, R.J.W., Phillips, O.L., Feldpausch, T.R., Gloor, E., Baker, T.R., Lloyd, J., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Monteagudo-Mendoza, A., Malhi, Y., Lewis, S.L., Vásquez Martinez, R., Alexiades, M., Álvarez Dávila, E., Alvarez-Loayza, P., Andrade, A., Aragão, L.E.O.C., Araujo-Murakami, A., Arets, E.J.M.M., Arroyo, L., Aymard C, G.A., Bánki, O.S., Baraloto, C., Barroso, J., Bonal, D., Boot, R.G.A., Camargo, J.L.C., Castilho, C.V., Chama, V., Chao, K.J., Chave, J., Comiskey, J.A., Cornejo Valverde, F., da Costa, L., de Oliveira, E.A., Di Fiore, A., Erwin, T.L., Fauset, S., Forsthofer, M., Galbraith, D.R., Grahame, E.S., Groot, N., Hérault, B., Higuchi, N., Honorio Coronado, E.N., Keeling, H., Killeen, T.J., Laurance, W.F., Laurance, S., Licona, J., Magnussen, W.E., Marimon, B.S., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Mendoza, C., Neill, D.A., Nogueira, E.M., Núñez, P., Pallqui Camacho, N.C., Parada, A., Pardo-Molina, G., Peacock, J., Peña-Claros, M., Pickavance,

G.C., Pitman, N.C.A., Poorter, L., Prieto, A., Quesada, C.A., Ramírez, F., Ramírez-Angulo, H., Restrepo, Z., Roopsind, A., Rudas, A., Salomão, R.P., Schwarz, M., Silva, N., Silva-Espejo, J.E., Silveira, M., Stropp, J., Talbot, J., ter Steege, H., Teran-Aguilar, J., Terborgh, J., Thomas-Caesar, R., Toledo, M., Torello-Raventos, M., Umetsu, R.K., van der Heijden, G.M.F., van der Hout, P., Guimarães Vieira, I.C., Vieira, S.A., Vilanova, E., Vos, V.A. & Zagt, R.J. (2015) Long-term decline of the Amazon carbon sink. *Nature*, **519**, 344-348.

- Bruijnzeel, L.A., Mulligan, M. & Scatena, F.N. (2011) Hydrometeorology of tropical montane cloud forests: emerging patterns. *Hydrological Processes*, **25**, 465-498.
- Bruijnzeel, L.A., Kappelle, M., Mulligan, M. & Scatena, F.N. (2010) Tropical montane cloud forests: State of knowledge and sustainability perspectives in a changing world. *Tropical Montane Cloud Forests: Science for Conservation and Management*, 691-740.
- Burrows, W., Hoffmann, M., Compton, J., Back, P. & Tait, L. (2000) Allometric relationships and community biomass estimates for some dominant eucalypts in Central Queensland woodlands. *Australian Journal of Botany*, **48**, 707-714.
- Bustamante, M.M.C., Roitman, I., Aide, T.M., Alencar, A., Anderson, L.O., Aragão, L., Asner, G.P., Barlow, J., Berenguer, E., Chambers, J., Costa, M.H., Fanin, T., Ferreira, L.G., Ferreira, J., Keller, M., Magnusson, W.E., Morales-Barquero, L., Morton, D., Ometto, J.P.H.B., Palace, M., Peres, C.A., Silvério, D., Trumbore, S. & Vieira, I.C.G. (2016) Toward an integrated monitoring framework to assess the effects of tropical forest degradation and recovery on carbon stocks and biodiversity. *Global Change Biology*, 22, 92-109.
- Cadotte, M.W., Cardinale, B.J. & Oakley, T.H. (2008) Evolutionary history and the effect of biodiversity on plant productivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **105**, 17012-17017.
- Calderón-Loor, M., Cuesta, F., Pinto, E. & Gosling, W.D. (2020) Carbon sequestration rates indicate ecosystem recovery following human disturbance in the equatorial Andes. *PLOS ONE*, **15**, e0230612.
- Cavelier, J. (1996) Environmental factors and ecophysiological processes along altitudinal gradients in wet tropical mountains. *Tropical forest plant ecophysiology*, pp. 399-439. Springer.
- Cavender-Bares, J. (2005) Impacts of Freezing on Long Distance Transport in Woody Plants. *Vascular Transport in Plants* (ed. by N.M. Holbrook and M.A. Zwieniecki), pp. 401-424. Academic Press, Burlington.
- Chase, J.M. & Leibold, M.A. (2002) Spatial scale dictates the productivity–biodiversity relationship. *Nature*, **416**, 427-430.
- Chave, J., Muller-Landau, H., Baker, T., Easdale, T., Steege, H.T. & Webb, C.O. (2006) Regional and phylogenetic variation of wood density across 2456 neotropical tree species. *Ecological Applications*, **16**, 2356–2367.
- Chave, J., Réjou-Méchain, M., Búrquez, A., Chidumayo, E., Colgan, M.S., elitti, W.B.C.D., Duque, A., Eid, T., Fearnside, P.M., Goodman, R.C., Henry, M., Martínez-Yrizar, A., Mugasha, W.A., Muller-Landau, H.C., Mencuccini, M., Nelson, B.W., Ngomanda, A., Nogueira, E.M., Ortiz-Malavassi, E., Pélissier, R., Ploton, P., Ryan, C.M., Saldarriaga, J.G. & Vieilledent, G. (2014) Improved allometric models to estimate the aboveground biomass of tropical trees. *Global Change Biology*, 20 3177–3190.

- Clark, D.A., Brown, S., Kicklighter, D.W., Chambers, J.Q., Thomlinson, J.R., Ni, J. & Holland, E.A. (2001) Net Primary Production in Tropical Forests: An Evaluation and Synthesis of Existing Field Data. *Ecological Applications*, **11**, 371-384.
- Clarke, K. & Gorley, R. (2006) Primer v6: User Manual/Tutorial.
- Colwell, R.K., Brehm, G., Cardelús, C.L., Gilman, A.C. & Longino, J.T. (2008) Global Warming, Elevational Range Shifts, and Lowland Biotic Attrition in the Wet Tropics. *Science*, **322**, 258-261.
- Coomes, D.A. & Allen, R.B. (2007) Mortality and tree-size distributions in natural mixed-age forests. *Journal of Ecology*, **95**, 27-40.
- Cui, W. & Zheng, X.-X. (2016) Spatial Heterogeneity in Tree Diversity and Forest Structure of Evergreen Broadleaf Forests in Southern China along an Altitudinal Gradient. *Forests*, 7, 216.
- Del Grosso, S., Parton, W., Stohlgren, T., Zheng, D., Bachelet, D., Prince, S., Hibbard, K. & Olson, R. (2008) Global potential net primary production predicted from vegetation class, precipitation, and temperature. *Ecology*, **89**, 2117-2126.
- Devictor, V., van Swaay, C., Brereton, T., Brotons, L., Chamberlain, D., Heliölä, J., Herrando, S., Julliard, R., Kuussaari, M., Lindström, Å., Reif, J., Roy, D.B., Schweiger, O., Settele, J., Stefanescu, C., Van Strien, A., Van Turnhout, C., Vermouzek, Z., WallisDeVries, M., Wynhoff, I. & Jiguet, F. (2012) Differences in the climatic debts of birds and butterflies at a continental scale. *Nature Climate Change*, 2, 121-124.
- Duque, A., Stevenson, P.R. & Feeley, K.J. (2015) Thermophilization of adult and juvenile tree communities in the northern tropical Andes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **112**, 10744-10749.
- Duque, A., Peña, M.A., Cuesta, F., González-Caro, S., Kennedy, P., Phillips, O.L., Calderón-Loor, M., Blundo, C., Carilla, J., Cayola, L., Farfán-Ríos, W., Fuentes, A., Grau, R., Homeier, J., Loza-Rivera, M.I., Malhi, Y., Malizia, A., Malizia, L., Martínez-Villa, J.A., Myers, J.A., Osinaga-Acosta, O., Peralvo, M., Pinto, E., Saatchi, S., Silman, M., Tello, J.S., Terán-Valdez, A. & Feeley, K.J. (2021) Mature Andean forests as globally important carbon sinks and future carbon refuges. *Nature*,
- Eller, C.B., Meireles, L.D., Sitch, S., Burgess, S.S.O. & Oliveira, R.S. (2020) How Climate Shapes the Functioning of Tropical Montane Cloud Forests. *Current Forestry Reports*, 6, 97-114.
- Engels, C.H. & Marschner, H. (1990) Effect of sub-optimal root zone temperatures at varied nutrient supply and shoot meristem temperature on growth and nutrient concentrations in maize seedlings (Zea mays L.). *Plant and Soil*, **126**, 215-225.
- Fadrique, B., Báez, S., Duque, Á., Malizia, A., Blundo, C., Carilla, J., Osinaga-Acosta, O.,
 Malizia, L., Silman, M., Farfán-Ríos, W., Malhi, Y., Young, K.R., Cuesta C, F., Homeier,
 J., Peralvo, M., Pinto, E., Jadan, O., Aguirre, N., Aguirre, Z. & Feeley, K.J. (2018)
 Widespread but heterogeneous responses of Andean forests to climate change. *Nature*,
- Feeley, K.J., Silman, M.R., Bush, M.B., Farfan, W., Cabrera, K.G., Malhi, Y., Meir, P., Revilla, N.S., Quisiyupanqui, M.N.R. & Saatchi, S. (2011) Upslope migration of Andean trees. *Journal of Biogeography*, **38**, 783-791.
- Fehse, J., Hofstede, R., Aguirre, A., Paladines, C., Kooijman, A. & Sevink, J. (2002) High altitude tropical secondary forests: a competitive carbon sink? *Forest Ecology and Management*, 163, 9–25.

- Feldpausch, T.R., Lloyd, J., Lewis, S.L., Brienen, R.J.W., M. Gloor, Mendoza, A.M., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Banin, L., Salim, K.A., Affum-Baffoe, K., Alexiades, M., Almeida, S., Amaral, I., Andrade, A., Aragão, L.E.O.C., A. Araujo Murakami, Arets, E.J.M.M., Arroyo, L., Aymard, C.G.A., Baker, T.R., Bánki, O.S., Berry, N.J., Cardozo, N., Chave, J., Comiskey, J.A., Oliveira, E.A.A.d., Fiore, A.D., Djagbletey, G., Domingues, T.F., Erwin, T.L., Fearnside, P.M., França, M.B., Freitas, M.A., Higuchi, N., C., E.H., Iida, Y., Jiménez, E., A. R. Kassim, Killeen, T.J., Laurance, W.F., Lovett, J.C., Marimon, Y.M.B.S., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Lenza, E., Marshall, A.R., Mendoza, C., Metcalfe, D.J., Mitchard, E.T.A., Neill, D.A., Nelson, B.W., Nilus, R., Nogueira, E.M., A. Parada, K. S-H. Peh, Cruz, A.P., Peñuela}, M.C., Pitman, N.C.A., Prieto, A., Quesada, C.A., Ramírez, F., Ramírez-Angulo, H., Reitsma, J.M., Rudas, A., Saiz, G., Salomão, R.P., Schwarz, M., Silva, N., Silva-Espejo, J.E., Silveira, M., Sonké, B., Stropp, J., Taedoumg, H.E., Tan, S., Steege, H.t., Terborgh, J., Torello-Raventos, M., Heijden, G.M.F.v.d., Vásquez, R., E. Vilanova, Vos, V.A., White, L., Willcock, S., Woell, H. & Phillips, O.L. (2012) Tree height integrated into pantropical forest biomass estimates. Biogeosciences, 9, 3381-3403.
- Fyllas, N.M., Bentley, L.P., Shenkin, A., Asner, G.P., Atkin, O.K., Díaz, S., Enquist, B.J., Farfan-Rios, W., Gloor, E. & Guerrieri, R. (2017) Solar radiation and functional traits explain the decline of forest primary productivity along a tropical elevation gradient. *Ecology letters*, 20, 730-740.
- Gentry, A.H. (1995) Patterns of diversity and floristic composition in neotropical montane forests. *Biodiversity and conservation of neotropical montane forests*. *Proceedings of the Neotropical Montane Forest Biodiversity and Conservation Symposium (1993, Bronx, N.Y., USA)* (ed. by S.P. Churchill, H. Balslev, E. Forero and J.L. Luteyn), pp. 103-126. New York Botanical Garden, Bronx, New York, USA.
- Gibbon, A., Silman, M., Malhi, Y., Fisher, J., Meir, P., Zimmermann, M., Dargie, G., Farfan, W. & Garcia, K. (2010) Ecosystem Carbon Storage Across the Grassland–Forest Transition in the High Andes of Manu National Park, Peru. *Ecosystems*, 13, 1097-1111.
- Girardin, C.A.J., Malhi, Y., Aragao, L.E.O.C., Mamani, M., Huasco, W.H., Durand, L., Feeley, K.J., Rapp, J., Silva-Espejo, J.E., Silman, M., Salinas, N. & Whittaker, R.J. (2010) Net primary productivity allocation and cycling of carbon along a tropical forest elevational transect in the Peruvian Andes. *Global Change Biology*, 16, 3176-3192.
- Girardin, C.A.J., Espejob, J.E.S., Doughty, C.E., Huasco, W.H., Metcalfe, D.B., Durand-Baca, L., Marthews, T.R., Aragao, L.E.O.C., Farfán-Rios, W., García-Cabrera, K., Halladay, K., Fisher, J.B., Galiano-Cabrera, D.F., Huaraca-Quispe, L.P., Alzamora-Taype, I., Eguiluz-Mora, L., Revilla, N.S., Silman, M.R., Meir, P. & Malhi, Y. (2013) Productivity and carbon allocation in a tropical montane cloud forest in the Peruvian Andes. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*, 7, 107-123.
- Girardin, C.A.J., Farfan-Rios, W., Garcia, K., Feeley, K.J., Jørgensen, P.M., Murakami, A.A., Pérez, L.C., Seidel, R., Paniagua, N., Claros, A.F.F., Maldonado, C., Silman, M., Salinas, N., Reynel, C., Neill, D.A., Serrano, M., Caballero, C.J., Cuadros, M.A.L., Macía, M.J., Killeen, T.J. & Malhi, Y. (2014) Spatial patterns of above-ground structure, biomass and composition in a network of six Andean elevation transects. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*, 7, 161–171.

- Gotelli, N.J. & Colwell, R.K. (2001) Quantifying biodiversity: procedures and pitfalls in the measurement and comparison of species richness. *Ecology Letters*, **4**, 379-391.
- Grace, J.B. (2006) *Structural Equation Modeling and Natural Systems*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Gradstein, S., Homeier, J. & D, G. (2008) The Tropical Mountain Forest—Patterns and Processes in a Biodiversity Hotspot. *Biodiversity and Ecology Series*, **2**, 217pp.
- Grantham, H.S., Duncan, A., Evans, T.D., Jones, K.R., Beyer, H.L., Schuster, R., Walston, J., Ray, J.C., Robinson, J.G., Callow, M., Clements, T., Costa, H.M., DeGemmis, A., Elsen, P.R., Ervin, J., Franco, P., Goldman, E., Goetz, S., Hansen, A., Hofsvang, E., Jantz, P., Jupiter, S., Kang, A., Langhammer, P., Laurance, W.F., Lieberman, S., Linkie, M., Malhi, Y., Maxwell, S., Mendez, M., Mittermeier, R., Murray, N.J., Possingham, H., Radachowsky, J., Saatchi, S., Samper, C., Silverman, J., Shapiro, A., Strassburg, B., Stevens, T., Stokes, E., Taylor, R., Tear, T., Tizard, R., Venter, O., Visconti, P., Wang, S. & Watson, J.E.M. (2020) Anthropogenic modification of forests means only 40% of remaining forests have high ecosystem integrity. *Nature Communications*, 11, 5978.
- Grime, J.P. (1998) Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder effects. *Journal of Ecology*, **86**, 902-910.
- Grimm, U. & Fassbender, H. (1981) Inventario de las reservas orgánicas y minerales (N, P, K, Ca, Mg, Mn, Fe, Al, Na). Turrialba. **31**, 27-37.
- Hall, P., Ashton, P.S., Condit, R., Manokaran, N. & Hubbell, S.P. (1998) Signal and noise in sampling tropical forest structure and dynamics. In, pp. 63-77. Parthenon Publishing Group, Carnforth.
- Halladay, K., Malhi, Y. & New, M. (2012) Cloud frequency climatology at the Andes/Amazon transition: 1. Seasonal and diurnal cycles. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, **117**
- Herzog, S., Kessler, M. & Bach, K. (2005) The elevational gradient in Andean bird species richness at the local scale: A foothill peak and a high-elevation plateau. *Ecography*, **28**, 209-222.
- Homeier, J., Breckle, S.-W., Günter, S., Rollenbeck, R.T. & Leuschner, C. (2010) Tree Diversity, Forest Structure and Productivity along Altitudinal and Topographical Gradients in a Species-Rich Ecuadorian Montane Rain Forest. *Biotropica*, **42**, 140-148.
- Hooper, D.U., Chapin III, F.S., Ewel, J.J., Hector, A., Inchausti, P., Lavorel, S., Lawton, J.H., Lodge, D.M., Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Schmid, B., Setälä, H., Symstad, A.J., Vandermeer, J. & Wardle, D.A. (2005) Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. *Ecological Monographs*, **75**, 3-35.
- Hribljan, J.A., Suárez, E., Heckman, K.A., Lilleskov, E.A. & Chimner, R.A. (2016) Peatland carbon stocks and accumulation rates in the Ecuadorian páramo. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 24, 113-127.
- Hubau, W., Lewis, S.L., Phillips, O.L., Affum-Baffoe, K., Beeckman, H., Cuní-Sanchez, A., Daniels, A.K., Ewango, C.E.N., Fauset, S., Mukinzi, J.M., Sheil, D., Sonké, B., Sullivan, M.J.P., Sunderland, T.C.H., Taedoumg, H., Thomas, S.C., White, L.J.T., Abernethy, K.A., Adu-Bredu, S., Amani, C.A., Baker, T.R., Banin, L.F., Baya, F., Begne, S.K., Bennett, A.C., Benedet, F., Bitariho, R., Bocko, Y.E., Boeckx, P., Boundja, P., Brienen, R.J.W., Brncic, T., Chezeaux, E., Chuyong, G.B., Clark, C.J., Collins, M., Comiskey, J.A., Coomes, D.A., Dargie, G.C., de Haulleville, T., Kamdem, M.N.D., Doucet, J.-L.,

Esquivel-Muelbert, A., Feldpausch, T.R., Fofanah, A., Foli, E.G., Gilpin, M., Gloor, E., Gonmadje, C., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Hall, J.S., Hamilton, A.C., Harris, D.J., Hart, T.B., Hockemba, M.B.N., Hladik, A., Ifo, S.A., Jeffery, K.J., Jucker, T., Yakusu, E.K., Kearsley, E., Kenfack, D., Koch, A., Leal, M.E., Levesley, A., Lindsell, J.A., Lisingo, J., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Lovett, J.C., Makana, J.-R., Malhi, Y., Marshall, A.R., Martin, J., Martin, E.H., Mbayu, F.M., Medjibe, V.P., Mihindou, V., Mitchard, E.T.A., Moore, S., Munishi, P.K.T., Bengone, N.N., Ojo, L., Ondo, F.E., Peh, K.S.H., Pickavance, G.C., Poulsen, A.D., Poulsen, J.R., Qie, L., Reitsma, J., Rovero, F., Swaine, M.D., Talbot, J., Taplin, J., Taylor, D.M., Thomas, D.W., Toirambe, B., Mukendi, J.T., Tuagben, D., Umunay, P.M., van der Heijden, G.M.F., Verbeeck, H., Vleminckx, J., Willcock, S., Wöll, H., Woods, J.T. & Zemagho, L. (2020) Asynchronous carbon sink saturation in African and Amazonian tropical forests. *Nature*, **579**, 80-87.

- Inc., S.I. (2008) JMP®. Cary, NC, 1989-2008., Version 8
- Iost, S. (2007) Soil respiration, microbial respiration and mineralisation in soils of montane rainforests of Southern Ecuador: influence of altitude. Technical University of Dresden, Germany.
- Jarvis, A. & Mulligan, M. (2011) The climate of cloud forests. *Hydrological Processes*, **25**, 327 343.
- Jarvis, A., Touval, J.L., Schmitz, M.C., Sotomayor, L. & Hyman, G.G. (2010) Assessment of threats to ecosystems in South America. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, **18**, 180-188.
- Jiménez-Castillo, M., Wiser, S.K. & Lusk, C.H. (2007) ORIGINAL ARTICLE: Elevational parallels of latitudinal variation in the proportion of lianas in woody floras. *Journal of Biogeography*, 34, 163-168.
- Jørgensen, P.M., Ulloa Ulloa, C., León, B., León-Yánez, S., Beck, S.G., Nee, M., Zarucchi, J.L., Celis, M., Bernal, R. & Gradstein, R. (2011) Regional patterns of vascular plant diversity and endemism. Climate Change and Biodiversity in the Tropical Andes. Inter-American Institute for Global Change Research (IAI) and Scientific Committee on Problems of the Environment (SCOPE), 192-203.
- Karger, D.N., Conrad, O., Böhner, J., Kawohl, T., Kreft, H., Soria-Auza, R.W., Zimmermann, N.E., Linder, H.P. & Kessler, M. (2017) Climatologies at high resolution for the earth's land surface areas. *Scientific Data*, 4, 170122.
- Keeling, H.C. & Phillips, O.L. (2007) The global relationship between forest productivity and biomass. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, **16**, 618-631.
- Kessler, M. (2000) Elevational gradients in species richness and endemism of selected plant groups in the central Bolivian Andes. *Plant Ecology*, **149**, 181-193.
- Kessler, M. (2001) Patterns of diversity and range size of selected plant groups along an elevational transect in the Bolivian Andes. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, **10**, 1897-1921.
- Kessler, M. & Kluge, J. (2008) Diversity and endemism in tropical montane forests From patterns to processes. *Tropical Mountain Forest: Patterns and Processes in a Biodiversity Hotspot* (ed. by S. Gradstein, J. Homeier and D. Gansert), pp. 35-50. Biodiversity and Ecology Series 2, Univ. Göttingen, Göttingen.
- Kunstler, G., Lavergne, S., Courbaud, B., Thuiller, W., Vieilledent, G., Zimmermann, N.E., Kattge, J. & Coomes, D.A. (2012) Competitive interactions between forest trees are driven by species' trait hierarchy, not phylogenetic or functional similarity: implications for forest community assembly. *Ecol Lett*, **15**, 831-40.

- Leuschner, C., Moser, G., Bertsch, C., Röderstein, M. & Hertel, D. (2007) Large altitudinal increase in tree root/shoot ratio in tropical mountain forests of Ecuador. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **8**, 219-230.
- Leuschner, C., Zach, A., Moser, G., Homeier, J., Graefe, S., Hertel, D., Wittich, B., Soethe, N., Iost, S., Röderstein, M., Horna, V. & Wolf, K. (2013) The Carbon Balance of Tropical Mountain Forests Along an Altitudinal Transect. *Ecosystem Services, Biodiversity and Environmental Change in a Tropical Mountain Ecosystem of South Ecuador* (ed. by J. Bendix, E. Beck, A. Bräuning, F. Makeschin, R. Mosandl, S. Scheu and W. Wilcke), pp. 117-139. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Lieberman, D., Lieberman, M., Peralta, R. & Hartshorn, G. (1996) Tropical Forest Structure and Composition on a Large-Scale Altitudinal Gradient in Costa Rica. *The Journal of Ecology*, **84**
- Lippok, D., Beck, S.G., Renison, D., Hensen, I., Apaza, A.E. & Schleuning, M. (2014) Topography and edge effects are more important than elevation as drivers of vegetation patterns in a neotropical montane forest. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **25**, 724-733.
- Llambí, L.D., Fontaine, M., Rada, F., Saugier, B. & Sarmiento, L. (2003) Ecophysiology of Dominant Plant Species during Old-Field Succession in a High Tropical Andean Ecosystem. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 35, 447-453.
- Llerena-Zambrano, M., Ordoñez, J.C., Llambí, L.D., van der Sande, M., Pinto, E., Salazar, L. & Cuesta, F. (2021) Minimum temperature drives community leaf trait variation in secondary montane forests along a 3000-m elevation gradient in the tropical Andes. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*, null-null.
- Lohbeck, M., Poorter, L., Martínez-Ramos, M. & Bongers, F. (2015) Biomass is the main driver of changes in ecosystem process rates during tropical forest succession. *Ecology*, 96, 1242-52.
- Luo, Y.-H., Cadotte, M.W., Burgess, K.S., Liu, J., Tan, S.-L., Xu, K., Li, D.-Z. & Gao, L.-M. (2019a) Forest community assembly is driven by different strata-dependent mechanisms along an elevational gradient. *Journal of Biogeography*, 46, 2174-2187.
- Luo, Y.-H., Cadotte, M.W., Burgess, K.S., Liu, J., Tan, S.-L., Zou, J.-Y., Xu, K., Li, D.-Z. & Gao, L.-M. (2019b) Greater than the sum of the parts: how the species composition in different forest strata influence ecosystem function. *Ecology Letters*, 22, 1449-1461.
- MAE (2012) Sistema de clasificación de los ecosistemas del Ecuador continental. . Subsecretaría de Patrimonio Natural, Quito.,
- Maherali, H. & Klironomos, J. (2007) Influence of Phylogeny on Fungal Community Assembly and Ecosystem Functioning. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, **316**, 1746-8.
- Malhi, Y. (2012) The productivity, metabolism and carbon cycle of tropical forest vegetation. *Journal of Ecology*, **100**, 65-75.
- Malhi, Y., Girardin, C.A.J., Goldsmith, G.R., Doughty, C.E., Salinas, N., Metcalfe, D.B., Huaraca Huasco, W., Silva-Espejo, J.E., del Aguilla-Pasquell, J., Farfán Amézquita, F., Aragão, L.E.O.C., Guerrieri, R., Ishida, F.Y., Bahar, N.H.A., Farfan-Rios, W., Phillips, O.L., Meir, P. & Silman, M. (2017) The variation of productivity and its allocation along a tropical elevation gradient: a whole carbon budget perspective. *New Phytologist*, 214, 1019-1032.
- Malizia, A., Blundo, C., Carilla, J., Osinaga Acosta, O., Cuesta, F., Duque, A., Aguirre, N., Aguirre, Z., Ataroff, M., Baez, S., Calderón-Loor, M., Cayola, L., Cayuela, L., Ceballos,

S., Cedillo, H., Farfán Ríos, W., Feeley, K.J., Fuentes, A.F., Gámez Álvarez, L.E., Grau, R., Homeier, J., Jadan, O., Llambi, L.D., Loza Rivera, M.I., Macía, M.J., Malhi, Y., Malizia, L., Peralvo, M., Pinto, E., Tello, S., Silman, M. & Young, K.R. (2020) Elevation and latitude drives structure and tree species composition in Andean forests: Results from a large-scale plot network. *PLOS ONE*, **15**, e0231553.

- Martin, A.R., Doraisami, M. & Thomas, S.C. (2018) Global patterns in wood carbon concentration across the world's trees and forests. *Nature Geoscience*, **11**, 915-920.
- Mathez-Stiefel, S.-L., Peralvo, M., Báez, S., Rist, S., Buytaert, W., Cuesta, F., Fadrique, B., Feeley, K.J., Groth, A.A.P., Homeier, J., Llambí, L.D., Locatelli, B., Sandoval, M.F.L., Malizia, A. & Young, K.R. (2017) Research Priorities for the Conservation and Sustainable Governance of Andean Forest Landscapes. *Mountain Research and Development*, **37**, 323-339, 17.
- Mayfield, M.M. & Levine, J.M. (2010) Opposing effects of competitive exclusion on the phylogenetic structure of communities. *Ecol Lett*, **13**, 1085-93.
- McMahon, S.M., Arellano, G. & Davies, S.J. (2019) The importance and challenges of detecting changes in forest mortality rates. *Ecosphere*, **10**, e02615.
- Melo, V.F., Orrutéa, A.G., Motta, A.C.V. & Testoni, S.A. (2017) Land Use and Changes in Soil Morphology and Physical-Chemical Properties in Southern Amazon. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo*, 41
- Metcalfe, D., Meir, P., Eduardo, L., Araga, O.C., Costa, A.d., Almeida, S., Braga, A., Goncalves, P., Athaydes, J., Malhi, Y. & Williamsf, M. (2008) Sample sizes for estimating key ecosystem characteristics in a tropical terra firme rainforest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 255, 558–566.
- Moriarty, D., Boon, P., Hansen, J., Hunt, W., Poiner, I., Pollard, P., Skyring, G. & White, D. (1985) Microbial biomass and productivity in seagrass beds. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 4, 21-51.
- Moser, G., Leuschner, C., Röderstein, M., Graefe, S., Soethe, N. & Hertel, D. (2010) Biomass and productivity of fine and coarse roots in five tropical mountain forests stands along an altitudinal transect in southern Ecuador. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*, **3**, 151-164.
- Moser, G., Leuschner, C., Hertel, D., Graefe, S., Soethe§, N. & Iost, S. (2011) Elevation effects on the carbon budget of tropicalmountain forests (S Ecuador): the role of the belowground compartment. *Global Change Biology*, **17**, 2211–2226.
- Muller-Landau, H.C., Cushman, K.C., Arroyo, E.E., Martinez Cano, I., Anderson-Teixeira, K.J. & Backiel, B. (2021) Patterns and mechanisms of spatial variation in tropical forest productivity, woody residence time, and biomass. *New Phytologist*, **229**, 3065-3087.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., Fonseca, G.A.B.d. & Kent, J. (2000) Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*, **403**, 853-858.
- Niinemets, Ü. (2001) Global-scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. *Ecology*, **82**, 453-469.
- Olsson, L., Barbosa, H., Bhadwal, S., Cowie, A., Delusca, K., Flores-Renteria, D., Hermans, K., Jobbagy, E., Kurz, W., Li, D., Sonwa, D.J. & Stringer, L. (2019) Land Degradation.
- Palin, O., Eggleton, P., Malhi, Y., Girardin, C., Rozas, A. & Parr, C. (2011) Termite Diversity along an Amazon–Andes Elevation Gradient, Peru. *Biotropica*, **43**, 100-107.

- Pan, Y., Birdsey, R.A., Fang, J., Houghton, R., Kauppi, P.E., Kurz, W.A., Phillips, O.L., Shvidenko, A., Lewis, S.L., Canadell, J.G., Ciais, P., Jackson, R.B., Pacala, S.W., McGuire, A.D., Piao, S., Rautiainen, A., Sitch, S. & Hayes, D. (2011) A Large and Persistent Carbon Sink in the World's Forests. *Science*, 333, 988-993.
- Parry, M., Parry, M.L., Canziani, O., Palutikof, J., Van der Linden, P. & Hanson, C. (2007) Climate change 2007-impacts, adaptation and vulnerability: Working group II contribution to the fourth assessment report of the IPCC. Cambridge University Press.
- Peña-Claros, M., Fredericksen, T.S., Alarcón, A., Blate, G.M., Choque, U., Leaño, C., Licona, J.C., Mostacedo, B., Pariona, W., Villegas, Z. & Putz, F.E. (2008) Beyond reducedimpact logging: Silvicultural treatments to increase growth rates of tropical trees. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 256, 1458-1467.
- Peña, M.A. & Duque, A. (2013) Patterns of stocks of aboveground tree biomass, dynamics, and their determinants in secondary Andean forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **302**, 54-61.
- Peña, M.A., Feeley, K.J. & Duque, A. (2018) Effects of endogenous and exogenous processes on aboveground biomass stocks and dynamics in Andean forests. *Plant Ecology*, 219, 1481-1492.
- Perez, T.M., Stroud, J.T. & Feeley, K.J. (2016) Thermal trouble in the tropics. *Science*, **351**, 1392-1393.
- Phillips, J., Ramirez, S., Wayson, C. & Duque, A. (2019) Differences in carbon stocks along an elevational gradient in tropical mountain forests of Colombia. *Biotropica*, **51**, 490-499.
- Phillips, O.L., Malhi, Y., Higuchi, N., Laurance, W.F., Núñez, P., Vásquez, R., Laurance, S.G., Ferreira, L.V., Stern, M., Brown, S. & Grace, J. (1998) Changes in the Carbon Balance of Tropical Forests: Evidence from Long-Term Plots. *Science*, 282, 439-442.
- Pinto, E. & Cuesta, F. (2019) Monitoreo de Biodiversidad, Contenidos de Carbono, Productividad Y Rasgos Funcionales en Bosque Montanos. **Protocolo 8**, pp. 103.
- Pinto, E., Pérez, A.J., Ulloa, C.U. & Cuesta, F. (2018) Árboles representativos de los bosques montanos del noroccidente de Pichincha, Ecuador. CONDESAN, Quito, Ecuador.
- Poorter, L. & Bongers, F. (2006) Leaf traits are good predictors of plant performance across 53 rain forest species. *Ecology*, **87**, 1733-1743.
- Poorter, L., van der Sande, M.T., Arets, E.J.M.M., Ascarrunz, N., Enquist, B.J., Finegan, B., Licona, J.C., Martínez-Ramos, M., Mazzei, L., Meave, J.A., Muñoz, R., Nytch, C.J., de Oliveira, A.A., Pérez-García, E.A., Prado-Junior, J., Rodríguez-Velázques, J., Ruschel, A.R., Salgado-Negret, B., Schiavini, I., Swenson, N.G., Tenorio, E.A., Thompson, J., Toledo, M., Uriarte, M., Hout, P.v.d., Zimmerman, J.K. & Peña-Claros, M. (2017) Biodiversity and climate determine the functioning of Neotropical forests. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 26, 1423-1434.
- Poorter, L., van der Sande, M.T., Thompson, J., Arets, E.J.M.M., Alarcón, A., Álvarez-Sánchez, J., Ascarrunz, N., Balvanera, P., Barajas-Guzmán, G., Boit, A., Bongers, F., Carvalho, F.A., Casanoves, F., Cornejo-Tenorio, G., Costa, F.R.C., de Castilho, C.V., Duivenvoorden, J.F., Dutrieux, L.P., Enquist, B.J., Fernández-Méndez, F., Finegan, B., Gormley, L.H.L., Healey, J.R., Hoosbeek, M.R., Ibarra-Manríquez, G., Junqueira, A.B., Levis, C., Licona, J.C., Lisboa, L.S., Magnusson, W.E., Martínez-Ramos, M., Martínez-Yrizar, A., Martorano, L.G., Maskell, L.C., Mazzei, L., Meave, J.A., Mora, F., Muñoz, R., Nytch, C., Pansonato, M.P., Parr, T.W., Paz, H., Pérez-García, E.A., Rentería, L.Y.,

Rodríguez-Velazquez, J., Rozendaal, D.M.A., Ruschel, A.R., Sakschewski, B., Salgado-Negret, B., Schietti, J., Simões, M., Sinclair, F.L., Souza, P.F., Souza, F.C., Stropp, J., ter Steege, H., Swenson, N.G., Thonicke, K., Toledo, M., Uriarte, M., van der Hout, P., Walker, P., Zamora, N. & Peña-Claros, M. (2015) Diversity enhances carbon storage in tropical forests. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, **24**, 1314-1328.

- Rahbek, C. (2005) The role of spatial scale and the perception of large-scale species-richness patterns. *Ecology Letters*, **8**, 224-239.
- Rapp, J.M., Silman, M.R., Clark, J.S., Girardin, C.A.J., Galiano, D. & Tito, R. (2012) Intra- and interspecific tree growth across a long altitudinal gradient in the Peruvian Andes. *Ecology*, 93, 2061-2072.
- RCoreTeam (2017) R: A Languageand Environment for Statistical Computing. 3.4.1
- Réjou-Méchain, M., Tanguy, A., Piponiot, C., Chave, J. & Hérault, B. (2017) BIOMASS: an R package for estimating above-ground biomass and its uncertainty in tropical forests. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 1163-1167.
- Requena Suarez, D., Rozendaal, D.M.A., De Sy, V., Phillips, O.L., Alvarez-Dávila, E., Anderson-Teixeira, K., Araujo-Murakami, A., Arroyo, L., Baker, T.R., Bongers, F., Brienen, R.J.W., Carter, S., Cook-Patton, S.C., Feldpausch, T.R., Griscom, B.W., Harris, N., Hérault, B., Honorio Coronado, E.N., Leavitt, S.M., Lewis, S.L., Marimon, B.S., Monteagudo Mendoza, A., Kassi N'dja, J., N'Guessan, A.E., Poorter, L., Qie, L., Rutishauser, E., Sist, P., Sonké, B., Sullivan, M.J.P., Vilanova, E., Wang, M.M.H., Martius, C. & Herold, M. (2019) Estimating aboveground net biomass change for tropical and subtropical forests: Refinement of IPCC default rates using forest plot data. *Global Change Biology*, 25, 3609-3624.
- Rodríguez-Machena, J.V., Salaman, P., Jorgensen, P., Consiglio, T., Forno, E., Telesca, A.,
 Suárez, L., Arjona, F., Rojas, F., Bensted-Smith, R. & Inchausty, V.H. (2004) Tropical
 Andes. Hotspots revisited: Earth's biologically richest and most endangered ecoregions
 (ed. by R.A. Mittermeier, P. Robles-Gil, M. Hoffmann, J.D. Pilgrim, T.M. Brooks, C.G.
 Mittermeier and G. Fonseca), pp. Pp. 80-84. CEMEX, Mexico City.
- Rodríguez Eraso, N., Armenteras-Pascual, D. & Alumbreros, J.R. (2013) Land use and land cover change in the Colombian Andes: dynamics and future scenarios. *Journal of Land Use Science*, 8, 154-174.
- Román-Cuesta, R.M., Salinas, N., Asbjornsen, H., Oliveras, I., Huaman, V., Gutiérrez, Y., Puelles, L., Kala, J., Yabar, D., Rojas, M., Astete, R., Jordán, D.Y., Silman, M., Mosandl, R., Weber, M., Stimm, B., Günter, S., Knoke, T. & Malhi, Y. (2011) Implications of fires on carbon budgets in Andean cloud montane forest: The importance of peat soils and tree resprouting. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **261**, 1987-1997.
- Rutishauser, E., Hérault, B., Baraloto, C., Blanc, L., Descroix, L., Sotta, E., Ferreira, J.,
 Kanashiro, M., Mazzei, L., d Oliveira, M.V.N., Oliveira, L.C.d., Peña-Claros, M., Putz,
 F., Ruschel, A., Rodney, K., Roopsind, A., Shenkin, A., Silva, K.E.d., Souza, C.R.d.,
 Toledo, M., Vidal, E., West, T.A.P., Wortel, V. & Sist, P. (2015) Rapid tree carbon stock
 recovery in managed Amazonian forests. *Current biology : CB*, 25 18, R787-8.
- Salazar, L., Homeier, J., Kessler, M., Stefan, A., Lehnert, M., Krömer, T. & Kluge, J. (2013) Diversity patterns of ferns along elevation in Andean tropical forests. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*, 8

- Salinas, N., Malhi, Y., Meir, P., Silman, M., Roman Cuesta, R., Huaman, J., Salinas, D., Huaman, V., Gibaja, A., Mamani, M. & Farfan, F. (2011) The sensitivity of tropical leaf litter decomposition to temperature: results from a large-scale leaf translocation experiment along an elevation gradient in Peruvian forests. *New Phytologist*, **189**, 967-977.
- Shipley, B. (2016) Cause and Correlation in Biology: A User's Guide to Path Analysis, Structural Equations and Causal Inference with R, 2 edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Slik, F., Aiba, S.-I., Brearley, F., Cannon, C., Forshed, O., Kitayama, K., Nagamasu, H., Nilus, R., Payne, J., Paoli, G., Poulsen, A., Raes, N., Sheil, D., Sidiyasa, K., Suzuki, E. & van Valkenburg, J. (2010) Environmental correlates of tree biomass, basal area, wood specific gravity and stem density gradients in Borneo's tropical forests. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, **19**, 50-60.
- Slik, J.W.F., Arroyo-Rodríguez, V., Aiba, S.-I., Alvarez-Loavza, P., Alves, L.F., Ashton, P., Balvanera, P., Bastian, M.L., Bellingham, P.J., van den Berg, E., Bernacci, L., da Conceição Bispo, P., Blanc, L., Böhning-Gaese, K., Boeckx, P., Bongers, F., Boyle, B., Bradford, M., Brearley, F.Q., Breuer-Ndoundou Hockemba, M., Bunyavejchewin, S., Calderado Leal Matos, D., Castillo-Santiago, M., Catharino, E.L.M., Chai, S.-L., Chen, Y., Colwell, R.K., Chazdon, R.L., Clark, C., Clark, D.B., Clark, D.A., Culmsee, H., Damas, K., Dattaraja, H.S., Dauby, G., Davidar, P., DeWalt, S.J., Doucet, J.-L., Duque, A., Durigan, G., Eichhorn, K.A.O., Eisenlohr, P.V., Eler, E., Ewango, C., Farwig, N., Feeley, K.J., Ferreira, L., Field, R., de Oliveira Filho, A.T., Fletcher, C., Forshed, O., Franco, G., Fredriksson, G., Gillespie, T., Gillet, J.-F., Amarnath, G., Griffith, D.M., Grogan, J., Gunatilleke, N., Harris, D., Harrison, R., Hector, A., Homeier, J., Imai, N., Itoh, A., Jansen, P.A., Joly, C.A., de Jong, B.H.J., Kartawinata, K., Kearsley, E., Kelly, D.L., Kenfack, D., Kessler, M., Kitayama, K., Kooyman, R., Larney, E., Laumonier, Y., Laurance, S., Laurance, W.F., Lawes, M.J., Amaral, I.L.d., Letcher, S.G., Lindsell, J., Lu, X., Mansor, A., Marjokorpi, A., Martin, E.H., Meilby, H., Melo, F.P.L., Metcalfe, D.J., Medjibe, V.P., Metzger, J.P., Millet, J., Mohandass, D., Montero, J.C., de Morisson Valeriano, M., Mugerwa, B., Nagamasu, H., Nilus, R., Ochoa-Gaona, S., Onrizal, Page, N., Parolin, P., Parren, M., Parthasarathy, N., Paudel, E., Permana, A., Piedade, M.T.F., Pitman, N.C.A., Poorter, L., Poulsen, A.D., Poulsen, J., Powers, J., Prasad, R.C., Puyravaud, J.-P., Razafimahaimodison, J.-C., Reitsma, J., dos Santos, J.R., Roberto Spironello, W., Romero-Saltos, H., Rovero, F., Rozak, A.H., Ruokolainen, K., Rutishauser, E., Saiter, F., Saner, P., Santos, B.A., Santos, F., Sarker, S.K., Satdichanh, M., Schmitt, C.B., Schöngart, J., Schulze, M., Suganuma, M.S., Sheil, D., da Silva Pinheiro, E., Sist, P., Stevart, T., Sukumar, R., Sun, I.-F., Sunderland, T., Suresh, H.S., Suzuki, E., Tabarelli, M., Tang, J., Targhetta, N., Theilade, I., Thomas, D.W., Tchouto, P., Hurtado, J., Valencia, R., van Valkenburg, J.L.C.H., Van Do, T., Vasquez, R., Verbeeck, H., Adekunle, V., Vieira, S.A., Webb, C.O., Whitfeld, T., Wich, S.A., Williams, J., Wittmann, F., Wöll, H., Yang, X., Adou Yao, C.Y., Yap, S.L., Yoneda, T., Zahawi, R.A., Zakaria, R., Zang, R., de Assis, R.L., Garcia Luize, B. & Venticinque, E.M. (2015) An estimate of the number of tropical tree species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112, 7472-7477.
- Spracklen, D. & Righelato, R. (2014) Tropical montane forests are a larger than expected global carbon store. *Biogeosciences*, **11**, 2741-2754.
- Stephenson, N.L. & van Mantgem, P.J. (2005) Forest turnover rates follow global and regional patterns of productivity. *Ecology Letters*, **8**, 524-531.

- Sullivan, M.J.P., Talbot, J., Lewis, S.L., Phillips, O.L., Oie, L., Begne, S.K., Chave, J., Cuni-Sanchez, A., Hubau, W., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Miles, L., Monteagudo-Mendoza, A., Sonké, B., Sunderland, T., ter Steege, H., White, L.J.T., Affum-Baffoe, K., Aiba, S.-i., de Almeida, E.C., de Oliveira, E.A., Alvarez-Loayza, P., Dávila, E.A., Andrade, A., Aragão, L.E.O.C., Ashton, P., Aymard C, G.A., Baker, T.R., Balinga, M., Banin, L.F., Baraloto, C., Bastin, J.-F., Berry, N., Bogaert, J., Bonal, D., Bongers, F., Brienen, R., Camargo, J.L.C., Cerón, C., Moscoso, V.C., Chezeaux, E., Clark, C.J., Pacheco, A.C., Comiskey, J.A., Valverde, F.C., Coronado, E.N.H., Dargie, G., Davies, S.J., De Canniere, C., Djuikouo K, M.N., Doucet, J.-L., Erwin, T.L., Espejo, J.S., Ewango, C.E.N., Fauset, S., Feldpausch, T.R., Herrera, R., Gilpin, M., Gloor, E., Hall, J.S., Harris, D.J., Hart, T.B., Kartawinata, K., Kho, L.K., Kitayama, K., Laurance, S.G.W., Laurance, W.F., Leal, M.E., Lovejoy, T., Lovett, J.C., Lukasu, F.M., Makana, J.-R., Malhi, Y., Maracahipes, L., Marimon, B.S., Junior, B.H.M., Marshall, A.R., Morandi, P.S., Mukendi, J.T., Mukinzi, J., Nilus, R., Vargas, P.N., Camacho, N.C.P., Pardo, G., Peña-Claros, M., Pétronelli, P., Pickavance, G.C., Poulsen, A.D., Poulsen, J.R., Primack, R.B., Priyadi, H., Quesada, C.A., Reitsma, J., Réjou-Méchain, M., Restrepo, Z., Rutishauser, E., Salim, K.A., Salomão, R.P., Samsoedin, I., Sheil, D., Sierra, R., Silveira, M., Slik, J.W.F., Steel, L., Taedoumg, H., Tan, S., Terborgh, J.W., Thomas, S.C., Toledo, M., Umunay, P.M., Gamarra, L.V., Vieira, I.C.G., Vos, V.A., Wang, O., Willcock, S. & Zemagho, L. (2017) Diversity and carbon storage across the tropical forest biome. Scientific Reports, 7, 39102.
- Sundqvist, M.K., Sanders, N.J. & Wardle, D.A. (2013) Community and Ecosystem Responses to Elevational Gradients: Processes, Mechanisms, and Insights for Global Change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 44, 261-280.
- Takyu, M., Aiba, S.-I. & Kitayama, K. (2003) Changes in biomass, productivity and decomposition along topographical gradients under different geological conditions in tropical lower montane forests on Mount Kinabalu, Borneo. *Oecologia*, **134**, 397-404.
- Talbot, J., Lewis, S.L., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Brienen, R.J.W., Monteagudo, A., Baker, T.R.,
 Feldpausch, T.R., Malhi, Y., Vanderwel, M., Araujo Murakami, A., Arroyo, L.P., Chao,
 K.-J., Erwin, T., van der Heijden, G., Keeling, H., Killeen, T., Neill, D., Núñez Vargas, P.,
 Parada Gutierrez, G.A., Pitman, N., Quesada, C.A., Silveira, M., Stropp, J. & Phillips,
 O.L. (2014) Methods to estimate aboveground wood productivity from long-term forest
 inventory plots. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **320**, 30-38.
- Terán-Valdez, A., Cuesta, F., Pinto, E. & Peralvo, M. (2019) Los bosques del noroccidente de *Pichincha: una mirada profunda a los pulmones de Quito*. Proyecto EcoAndes, CONDESAN, Quito, Ecuador.
- Teunissen van Manen, M.L., Jansen, B., Cuesta, F., León-Yánez, S. & Gosling, W.D. (2019) Leaf wax n-alkane patterns of six tropical montane tree species show species-specific environmental response. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9, 9120-9128.
- Teunissen van Manen, M.L., Jansen, B., Cuesta, F., León-Yánez, S. & Gosling, W.D. (2020) From leaf to soil: n-alkane signal preservation, despite degradation along an environmental gradient in the tropical Andes. *Biogeosciences*, 17, 5465-5487.
- Townsend, A.R., Cleveland, C.C., Houlton, B.Z., Alden, C.B. & White, J.W. (2011) Multielement regulation of the tropical forest carbon cycle. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **9**, 9-17.

- Twilley, R.R., Castañeda-Moya, E., Rivera-Monroy, V.H. & Rovai, A. (2017) Productivity and carbon dynamics in mangrove wetlands. *Mangrove ecosystems: A global biogeographic perspective*, pp. 113-162. Springer.
- Valencia, R., Cerón, C. & Palacios, W. (1999) Las formaciones naturales de la Sierra del Ecuador. Sierra R. editor. Propuesta preliminar de un sistema de clasificación de vegetación para el ecuador continental. Proyecto INEFAN/GEF-BIRF and EcoCiencia, Quito, Ecuador, 81-108.
- Valencia, R., Foster, R.B., Villa, G., Condit, R., Svenning, J., Hernández, C., Romoleroux, K., Losos, E., Magard, E. & Balslev, H. (2004) Tree species distributions and local habitat variation in the Amazon: large forest plot in eastern Ecuador. *Journal of Ecology*, 92, 214–229.
- van de Weg, M.J., Meir, P., Grace, J. & Atkin, O.K. (2009) Altitudinal variation in leaf mass per unit area, leaf tissue density and foliar nitrogen and phosphorus content along an Amazon-Andes gradient in Peru. *Plant Ecology & Diversity*, **2**, 243-254.
- van der Sande, M.T., Zuidema, P.A. & Sterck, F. (2015) Explaining biomass growth of tropical canopy trees: the importance of sapwood. *Oecologia*, **177**, 1145-1155.
- van der Sande, M.T., Peña-Claros, M., Ascarrunz, N., Arets, E.J.M.M., Licona, J.C., Toledo, M. & Poorter, L. (2017a) Abiotic and biotic drivers of biomass change in a Neotropical forest. *Journal of Ecology*, **105**, 1223-1234.
- van der Sande, M.T., Arets, E.J.M.M., Peña-Claros, M., Hoosbeek, M.R., Cáceres-Siani, Y., van der Hout, P. & Poorter, L. (2017b) Soil fertility and species traits, but not diversity, drive productivity and biomass stocks in a Guyanese tropical rainforest. *Functional Ecology*, 32, 461-474.
- van der Sande, M.T., Bush, M.B., Urrego, D.H., Silman, M., Farfan-Rios, W., García Cabrera, K., Shenkin, A., Malhi, Y., McMichael, C.H. & Gosling, W. (2020) Modern pollen rain predicts shifts in plant trait composition but not plant diversity along the Andes–Amazon elevational gradient. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **32**, e12925.
- van der Sande, M.T., Poorter, L., Kooistra, L., Balvanera, P., Thonicke, K., Thompson, J., Arets, E.J.M.M., Garcia Alaniz, N., Jones, L., Mora, F., Mwampamba, T.H., Parr, T. & Peña-Claros, M. (2017c) Biodiversity in species, traits, and structure determines carbon stocks and uptake in tropical forests. *Biotropica*, **49**, 593-603.
- Velázquez-Rosas, N., Meave, J. & Vázquez-Santana, S. (2002) Elevational Variation of Leaf Traits in Montane Rain Forest Tree Species at La Chinantla, Southern México. *Biotropica*, 34, 534-546.
- Vendramini, F., Díaz, S., Gurvich, D.E., Wilson, P.J., Thompson, K. & Hodgson, J.G. (2002) Leaf traits as indicators of resource-use strategy in floras with succulent species. *New Phytologist*, **154**, 147-157.
- Veneklaas, E.J. (1990) Nutrient Fluxes in Bulk Precipitation and Throughfall in Two Montane Tropical Rain Forests, Colombia. *Journal of Ecology*, **78**, 974-992.
- Vitousek, P.M. & Farrington, H. (1997) Nutrient limitation and soil development: experimental test of a biogeochemical theory. *Biogeochemistry*, **37**, 63-75.
- Wittich, B., Horna, V., Homeier, J. & Leuschner, C. (2012) Altitudinal Change in the Photosynthetic Capacity of Tropical Trees: A Case Study from Ecuador and a Pantropical Literature Analysis. *Ecosystems*, 15, 958-973.

- Worthy, S.J., Jiménez Paz, R.A., Pérez, Á.J., Reynolds, A., Cruse-Sanders, J., Valencia, R., Barone, J.A. & Burgess, K.S. (2019) Distribution and Community Assembly of Trees Along an Andean Elevational Gradient. *Plants*, **8**, 326.
- Young, K., Ulloa, C., Luteyn, J. & Knapp, S. (2002) Plant Evolution and Endemism in Andean South America. *Botanical Review BOT REV*, **68**, 424-424.
- Zanne, A.E., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Coomes, D.A., Ilic, J., Jansen, S., Lewis, S.L., Miller, R.B., Swenson, N.G., Wiemann, M.C. & Chave, J. (2009) Data from: Towards a worldwide wood economics spectrum. In. Dryad Digital Repository. doi:10.5061/dryad.234.
- Zuniga-Escobar, O., Pena-Salamanca, E., Torres-Gonzáles, A., Cuero-Guependo, R. & Pena-Ospina, J. (2013) Assessment of the impact of anthropic activities on carbon storage in soils of high montane ecosystems in Colombia Agronomia Colombiana, 31, 112-119.

APPENDICES

Appendix A. Plot-based H:DBH allometries fitted for the 16 permanent plots surveyed in the tropical Andes. The best model was the one that minimizes the Residual Standard Error (RSE). Model selection was performed using the BIOMASS library for R.

PLOT ID	PARAMETER			PMSF	RSE 1	Average	Selected
	а	b	c	KIVISE	K BL10g	bias	model
INTI_01	41.260	32.200	0.000	5.514	0.000	-0.003	michaelis
BECL_03	28.710	23.810	1.520	4.324	0.000	-0.008	weibull
INTI_02	0.950	0.610	0.000	4.305	0.328	0.011	log1
MIND_01	2.139	-0.206	0.127	3.182	0.250	0.001	log2
RIBR_01	45.950	38.270	0.000	3.267	0.000	-0.002	michaelis
BECL_01	32.600	19.430	0.000	5.377	0.000	-0.004	michaelis
CEDR_01	0.864	0.569	0.000	2.768	0.208	-0.002	log1
CEDR_03	1.058	0.530	0.000	3.343	0.317	0.013	log1
MAPI_01	58.780	40.790	0.000	4.889	0.000	-0.002	michaelis
MAPI_02	65.420	46.660	0.000	3.091	0.000	-0.002	michaelis
MALO_02	54.090	37.340	0.000	2.936	0.000	0.004	michaelis
MALO_01	0.608	0.735	0.000	4.345	0.310	0.006	log1
VERD_01	19.984	18.205	1.494	2.849	0.000	-0.001	weibull
VERD_02	16.403	5.238	0.000	2.620	0.000	0.000	michaelis
VERD_03	1.216	0.384	0.000	2.332	0.282	0.006	log1
YANA_01	17.901	8.222	0.000	2.817	0.000	0.000	michaelis

Appendix B. Correlations values related to the first two axes of the principal component analysis (PCA) applied to temperature data from loggers established 10 centimeters and 1-meter aboveground (AG_{10cm} and AG_{1m}) and 10 centimeters below-ground (BG_{10cm}) in the monitoring system in NWPF. The abbreviations of the climatic variables are minimum daily temperature (minDT), mean daily temperature (meanDT), maximum daily temperature (maxDT). The most extreme values for both axes are represented in bold.

	PCA1 (88.6% of total	PCA2 (11.1% of total
	variation)	variation)
meanDT_AG _{10cm}	0.999382559	0.002281603
maxDT_AG10cm	0.996992733	-0.009324285
minDT_AG10cm	0.998616256	0.003435414
meanDT_BG _{10cm}	0.999099836	0.00061158
maxDT_BG10cm	0.997926768	0.033617457
minDT_BG10cm	0.126728778	0.991856367
meanDT_AG _{1m}	0.997160124	-0.032975393
maxDT_AG _{1m}	0.991317408	-0.100352945
minDT_AG _{1m}	0.997191627	-0.023974105

DI OT	Elevation	NGC1	NGCfinal	SOC1	SOCfinal
PLUI	(masl)	(Mg C ha ⁻¹)			
MAPI_02	632	8.2	4.8	101.2	95.8
MAPI_01	653	8.2	6.0	75.8	73.0
MALO_02	827	3.9	11.5	128.4	98.6
MALO_01	1018	4.2	10.6	116.2	108.6
MIND_01	1277	6.3	4.1	167.7	74.6
RIBR_01	1640	5.9	3.5	52.9	74.6
INTI_02	1829	10.8	5.1	83.4	65.9
INTI_01	1879	8.5	8.7	154.7	138.9
BECL_03	2203	3.3	2.8	99.4	77.4
CEDR_03	2212	6.9	6.9	209.7	155.4
BECL_01	2313	8.1	4.9	71.6	99.3
CEDR_01	2492	6.1	5.7	114.9	143.4
VERD_02	2932	5.5	6.5	158.5	105.8
VERD_03	3109	6.4	7.6	165.7	107.1
VERD_01	3421	6.6	6.8	108.7	74.8
YANA_01	3507	8.7	4.3	61.2	51.4
Mean (±SD)		6.7 (±1.9)	6.2 (±2.4)	116.9 (±44.4)	96.5 (±29.6)
R ² adj		-0.06	-0.02	-0.06	-0.07
p value		0.77	0.43	0.77	0.97

Appendix C. Below-ground necromass carbon stocks (NCS) and soil organic carbon (SOC) monitored in two censuses, in 2015 or initial (e.g.NGC1) and 2019 o final (e.g. NCG_{final}), in a monitoring system in the Andean forest of Pichincha province in Ecuador.

Appendix D. Regression analysis for above-ground carbon final stock (AGC; DBH \geq 5 cm) and AGC dynamics (Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) with predictor variables across an elevational transect in an Andean forest of Ecuador. AGC_{nc} = above-ground carbon net change (Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹), AGC_p= aboveground carbon productivity (Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹), AGC_k= above-ground carbon mortality (Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹), and AGC_{final}= above-ground carbon stock for the period 2019 (Mg ha⁻¹).

AGC _{final} (Mg ha ⁻¹)								
Variable	R ²	R ² Adj	RMSE	Prob> ρ				
Elevation	0.33	0.28	21.98	0.0199				
NCSfinal	0.34	0.29	21.76	0.017				
Rarefied SR	0.43	0.39	20.14	0.0054				
BA _{final}	0.47	0.43	19.55	0.0034				
CWM-LBT	0.42	0.38	20.43	0.0065				
PCA1 _{Temp}	0.34	0.29	21.85	0.0181				
AP	0.24	0.19	23.36	0.0521				
	AG	C _{nc} (Mg ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)						
Variable	\mathbb{R}^2	R ² Adj	RMSE	Prob> ρ				
Elevation	0.43	0.39	0.69	0.0055				
Rarefied SR	0.24	0.19	0.80	0.0521				
BETA	0.32	0.28	0.84	0.0213				
CWM-SLA	0.28	0.23	0.86	0.0342				
CWM-LBT	0.41	0.37	0.78	0.0073				
CWM-LA	0.26	0.21	0.88	0.0424				
PCA1 _{Temp}	0.47	0.43	0.74	0.0033				
AP	0.27	0.21	0.87	0.0406				
Mg_{Soil}	0.23	0.19	0.89	0.0543				
	AG	GC _p (Mg ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)						
Variable	R ²	R ² Adj	RMSE	Prob> ρ				
Elevation	0.38	0.32	0.76	0.0128				
Rarefied SR	0.32	0.28	0.78	0.0213				
CWM-LBT	0.38	0.34	0.75	0.0111				
РСА1тетр	0.39	0.35	0.74	0.0094				
AP	0.30	0.25	0.80	0.0292				
	AG	GC _k (Mg ha ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)						
Variable	\mathbb{R}^2	R ² Adj	RMSE	Prob> ρ				
BETA	0.25	0.19	0.56	0.0498				
C/N ratio	0.29	0.24	0.54	0.0321				
Nsoil	0.34	0.29	0.52	0.0185				

Appendix E. Correlation analysis for above-ground carbon final stock (AGC; DBH \geq 5 cm) and AGC dynamics (Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) with predictor variables across an elevational gradient in an Andean forest in Ecuador. AGC_{nc} = above-ground carbon net change (Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹), AGC_p= above-ground carbon productivity (Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹), AGC_k= above-ground carbon mortality (Mg ha⁻¹ y⁻¹), and AGC_{final}= above-ground carbon stock for the period 2019 (Mg ha⁻¹).

Variable	by Variable	Spearman ρ	Prob> p
AGCnc	Elevation	-0.7059	0.0022
AGCp	AGC _{nc}	0.7735	0.0004
AGCp	Elevation	-0.6765	0.004
AP	CWM_LA	0.595	0.015
AP	AGC _{nc}	0.5965	0.0147
AP	AGC _p	0.7128	0.0019
AP	CWM_LDMC	0.7982	0.0002
AP	PCA1 _{Temp}	0.8312	<.0001
AP	CWM_LBT	-0.8539	<.0001
AP	Elevation	-0.8439	<.0001
AP	Mg _{Soil}	-0.7237	0.0015
AP	K _{Soil}	-0.6441	0.0071
BAfinal	AGC _{final}	0.6118	0.0118
Csoil	AGC _{final}	0.649	0.0065
COS _{final}	AGCN	0.6402	0.0076
CWM_LA	AGC _{nc}	0.6382	0.0078
CWM_LA	Elevation	-0.8412	<.0001
CWM_LA	CWM_LBT	-0.7104	0.002
CWM_LA	Mg_{Soil}	-0.6814	0.0037
CWM_LA	$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{Soil}}$	-0.6726	0.0043
CWM_LA	BETA	-0.6353	0.0082
CWM_LBT	$\mathbf{K}_{\mathrm{Soil}}$	0.6445	0.007
CWM_LBT	Mg_{Soil}	0.7581	0.0007
CWM_LBT	Elevation	0.8622	<.0001
CWM_LBT	AGC _{final}	-0.6603	0.0054
CWM_LBT	AGC _p	-0.6323	0.0086
CWM_LBT	C _{Soil}	-0.6062	0.0128
CWM_LBT	AGC _{nc}	-0.6043	0.0132
CWM_LDMC	CWM_LBT	-0.7133	0.0019
CWM_LDMC	Elevation	-0.6588	0.0055
CWM_SLA	AGC _{nc}	0.5882	0.0165
KSoil	Elevation	0.7697	0.0005
Mg _{Soil}	Elevation	0.7314	0.0013
Mg _{Soil}	AGC _p	-0.6343	0.0083
PCA1 _{Temp}	CWM_LDMC	0.6358	0.0081
PCA1 _{Temp}	AGC _p	0.6623	0.0052

PCA1 _{Temp}	AGC _{nc}	0.6755	0.0041
PCA1 _{Temp}	CWM_LA	0.8021	0.0002
PCA1 _{Temp}	Elevation	-0.9816	<.0001
PCA1 _{Temp}	CWM_LBT	-0.851	<.0001
PCA1 _{Temp}	K _{Soil}	-0.7865	0.0003
PCA1 _{Temp}	Mg _{Soil}	-0.729	0.0014
Rarefied SR	Elevation	-0.8824	<.0001
Rarefied SR	AGC _p	0.6559	0.0058
Rarefied SR	Mg _{Soil}	-0.8079	0.0002
Rarefied SR	CWM_LBT	-0.8769	<.0001
Rarefied SR	CWM_LA	0.7	0.0025
Rarefied SR	CWM_LDMC	0.6235	0.0099
Rarefied SR	PCA1 _{Temp}	0.911	<.0001
Rarefied SR	AP	0.8719	<.0001
Rarefied SR	AGC _{final}	0.5824	0.0179
Rarefied SR	AGC _{nc}	0.5529	0.0263
ВЕТА	AGC _{nc}	-0.5206	0.0387
BETA	AGC_k	0.5578	0.0248

Appendix F. Structural equation models (SEMs) for above-ground carbon (AGC) stocks and dynamics: AGC of the last census (AGC_{final}), AGC net change (AGC_{nc}), AGC productivity (AGC_p), and AGC mortality (AGC_k), and the effects of abiotic and biotic factors. The endogenous and exogenous variables are presented, as well as R^2 , AIC, and RMSE values are shown to determine the best model.

Response Var.	Model	Endogenous var.	Exogenous var.	Chi-square	р	R ²	RMSE	AIC
AGC _{final}	1	AGC _{final} , CWM_LBT	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, rarefied SR, BA _{final} , NCS _{final}	12.087	0.208	0.805	0.151	50.087
	2	AGC _{final} , CWM_LBT	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, rarefied SR, BA _{final}	2.684	0.612	0.788	0.000	36.684
	3	AGC _{final} , CWM_LBT	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, rarefied SR, BA _{final}	32.245	0.000	0.735	0.449	58.245
	4	AGC _{final} , CWM_LBT	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, rarefied SR, BA _{final}	3.465	0.749	0.775	0.000	33.460
	5	AGC _{final} , CWM_LBT, rarefied SR	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, BA _{final}	4.226	0.517	0.80	0.000	36.226
	1	AGC _{nc} , CWM_SLA, CWM_LBT, CWM_LA	BETA, Elevation, rarefied SR, PCA1 _{Temp} , AP	38.547	0.000	0.911	0.362	102.54 7
AGCar	2	AGC _{nc} , CWM_SLA, CWM_LDMC, CWM_LBT, CWM_LA, PCA1 _{Temp} , AP	BETA, Elevation	23.933	0.047	0.864	0.217	85.933
AGCnc	3	AGC _{nc} , CWM_LDMC, CWM_LBT, CWM_LA, rarefied SR	BETA, Elevation, PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, CWM_SLA	126.477	0.000	0.937	0.534	188.47 7
	4	AGC _{nc} , CWM_LDMC, CWM_LBT, CWM_LA, rarefied SR	BETA, Elevation, PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, CWM_SLA	39.405	0.009	0.865	0.242	107.40 5

Response Var.	Model	Endogenous var.	Exogenous var.	Chi-square	р	R ²	RMSE	AIC
	5	AGC _{nc} , CWM_SLA, CWM_LBT, CWM_LA, rarefied SR	BETA, PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, CWM_LDMC	43.642	0.001	0.693	0.294	95.642
	6	AGC _{nc} , CWM_SLA, CWM_LDMC, CWM_LBT, CWM_LA, rarefied SR	BETA, PCA1 _{Temp} , AP	33.233	0.011	0.727	0.252	89.233
	7	AGC _{nc} , CWM_SLA, CWM_LBT, CWM_LA	BETA, PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, rarefied SR	8.413	0.493	0.714	0.000	62.413
	8	AGC _{nc} , CWM_SLA, CWM_LBT, CWM_LA, PCA1 _{Temp} , AP	BETA, rarefied SR	11.097	0.435	0.727	0.024	77.097
	9	AGC _{nc} , CWM_LBT, CWM_LA, rarefied SR	BETA, PCA1 _{Temp} , AP,	5.142	0.742	0.68	0.000	45.142
	1	AGC _p , CWM_LBT, Mg _{Soil}	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, rarefied SR	0.000	NA	0.523	0.614	54.000
	2	AGC _p , CWM_LBT, Mg _{Soil}	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, rarefied SR	1.029	0.310	0.52	0.044	41.029
	3	AGC _p , CWM_LBT, Mg _{Soil}	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, rarefied SR	0.000	NA	0.523	0.614	42.000
AGC _p	4	AGC _p , CWM_LBT, Mg _{Soil}	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP, rarefied SR	48.320	0.000	0.493	0.859	94.320
	5	AGC _p , CWM_LBT, Mg _{Soil} , PCA1 _{Temp} , AP	rarefied SR	3.771	0.438	0.522	0.000	49.771
	6	AGC _p , CWM_LBT, rarefied SR	PCA1 _{Temp} , AP	0.133	0.715	0.41	0.000	28.133
AGCk	1	$\frac{C/N_{Soil},N_{Soil},}{AGC_k}$	BETA	0.637	0.727	0.486	0.000	24.637

Response Var.	Model	Endogenous var.	Exogenous var.	Chi-square	р	R ²	RMSE	AIC
	2	AGC _k	BETA	0.000	NA	0.248	0.000	10.000
	3	AGC _k	BETA, N _{Soil}	0.602	0.438	0.447	0.000	10.602

Appendix G. Standardized prediction coefficients for each causal path in the above-ground biomass final stock (AGC_{final}) reported by structural equation modeling analysis (see Figure 4A). Red numbers determine significant relationships between variables and black numbers represent no significant relationships.

EFFECT	Endogenous Exogenous	PCA1 _{Temp}	AP	$\mathbf{BA}_{\mathrm{final}}$	Rarefied SR	CWM_LBT
	Rarefied SR	0.78	0.15	0.00	0.00	0.00
Total	CWM_LBT	-0.65	-0.30	0.00	0.00	0.00
	AGCfinal	0.59	0.02	0.61	0.38	-0.45
	Rarefied SR	0.78	0.15	0.00	0.00	0.00
Direct	CWM_LBT	-0.65	-0.30	0.00	0.00	0.00
	AGCfinal	0.00	-0.17	0.61	0.38	-0.45
	Rarefied SR	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Indirect	CWM_LBT	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	AGCfinal	0.59	0.19	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Rarefied SR	0.002	0.234			
p value	CWM_LBT	0.017	0.042			
	AGCfinal	0.023	0.432	0.001	0.201	0.131

Appendix H. Standardized prediction coefficients for each causal path in the above-ground biomass net change (AGC_{nc}) reported by structural equation modeling analysis (see Figure 4B). Red numbers determine significant relationships between variables and black numbers represent no significant relationships (SEM).

EFFECT	Endogenous Exogenous	PCA1 _{Temp}	AP	BETA	CWM_LA	Rarefied SR	CWM_LBT
Tatal	CWM_LA	1.12	-0.42	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Rarefied SR	0.78	0.15	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Totai	CWM_LBT	-0.65	-0.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	AGCnc	0.58	0.01	-0.49	-0.37	-0.28	-0.44
	CWM_LA	1.12	-0.42	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Rarefied SR	0.78	0.15	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Direct	CWM_LBT	-0.65	-0.30	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	AGCnc	0.93	-0.24	-0.49	-0.37	-0.28	-0.44
	CWM_LA	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Indirect	Rarefied SR	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	CWM_LBT	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	AGCnc	-0.35	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	CWM_LA	0.002	0.125				
n value	Rarefied SR	0.002	0.229				
p (unde	CWM_LBT	0.018	0.039				
	AGCnc	0.047	0.476	0.089	0.084	0.330	0.111
Appendix I. Standardized prediction coefficients for each causal path in the above-ground biomass productivity (AGC_p) reported by structural equation modeling analysis (see Figure 4C). Red numbers determine significant relationships between variables and black numbers represent no significant relationships (SEM).

EFFECT	Endogenous Exogenous	AP	PCA1 _{Temp}	Rarefied SR	CWM_LBT
Total	Rarefied SR	0.15	0.78	0.00	0.00
	CWM_LBT	-0.30	-0.65	0.00	0.00
	AGC _p	0.06	0.58	0.03	-0.28
Direct	Rarefied SR	0.15	0.78	0.00	0.00
	CWM_LBT	-0.30	-0.65	0.00	0.00
	AGC _p	-0.03	0.38	0.03	-0.28
Indirect	Rarefied SR	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	CWM_LBT	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	AGC _p	0.09	0.20	0.00	0.00
p value	Rarefied SR	0.216	0.002		
	CWM_LBT	0.038	0.014		
	AGC _p	0.465	0.050	0.465	0.325

Appenxi J. Standardized prediction coefficients for each causal path in the above-ground biomass mortality (AGC_k) reported by structural equation modeling analysis (see Figure 4D). Red numbers determine significant relationships between variables and black numbers represent no significant relationships (SEM).

EFFECT	Endogenous Exogenous	N _{Soil}	ВЕТА
Total	AGCk	-0.52	0.42
Direct	AGCk	-0.52	0.42
Indirect	AGCk	0.000	0.000
p value	AGCk	0.007	0.040